THE GREENHOUSE GAS IMPACTS OF BURNING POST-HARVEST DEBRIS PILES ON VANCOUVER ISLAND, BC

by

Alexander W. Hall B.Sc. (Hons.), Simon Fraser University, 2005

RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

In the School of Resource and Environmental Management Faculty of Environment

Project No. 521

© Alexander W. Hall 2011 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Fall 2011

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the *Copyright Act of Canada*, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for *Fair Dealing*. Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

APPROVAL

Name:	Alexander W. Hall
Degree:	Master of Resource Management
Project No.:	521
Title of Thesis:	The Greenhouse Gas Impacts of Burning Post- Harvest Debris Piles on Vancouver Island, BC.

Examining Committee:

Chair:

Rachel White Master of Resource Management Candidate School of Resource and Environmental Management Simon Fraser University

Kenneth P. Lertzman

Senior Supervisor Professor School of Resource and Environmental Management Simon Fraser University

Caren C. Dymond Supervisor Forest Carbon and Climate Change Researcher BC Ministry of Forests and Range

Date Defended/Approved:

6 September 2011

Partial Copyright Licence

SF

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website (www.lib.sfu.ca) at http://summit/sfu.ca and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

revised Fall 2011

ABSTRACT

It is increasingly important to identify climate change mitigation opportunities at different scales within all sectors. Avoiding burning of postharvest debris piles may be a viable regional-scale mitigation strategy within the forestry sector. I used the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector to simulate alternate burning scenarios over 2008-2050 and greenhouse gas (GHG) consequences over 2008-2250. The results show that the delayed release of carbon (through decomposition rather than burning) provides a benefit that persists for decades to centuries. Burning debris also releases a fraction of the stored carbon as CH₄ and releases N₂O, both of which are more powerful GHGs than CO₂. The quantity, form and timing of GHGs released are all critical components to address when evaluating the net climate impact of human activities. When applied across a large landscape over several decades, avoiding debris burning makes a meaningful contribution to a regional mitigation portfolio.

Keywords: carbon; greenhouse gases; mitigation strategies; slash burning; debris piles; forest management.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The evidence corroborating human-induced global climate change is unequivocal. Consequently, it is increasingly important to identify opportunities for climate change mitigation within all sectors of human activity. Within the forest sector, there are many activities with the potential to increase sinks for carbon sequestration or decrease sources of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Burning post-harvest debris, for example, results in an immediate release of GHGs to the atmosphere and therefore avoiding slash burning may be a viable GHG mitigation strategy. My research examines the GHG impact of burning debris piles on central Vancouver Island, with particular attention to the duration of these impacts.

The Strathcona Timber Supply Area (TSA) provides a case study to examine the cumulative impacts of burning post-harvest debris piles across a large landscape and over multiple decades. I use the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3) to simulate scenarios applying alternate potential levels of burning across the landscape to determine the GHG impacts of burning over 2008-2050. The results show that by 2050 a strategy of avoiding burning in the Strathcona TSA during the simulated management period would make a modest but certainly not insignificant contribution to the regional climate change mitigation portfolio. I then investigate the GHG consequences

iv

over the following 200 years to assess the longevity of the cumulative GHG benefits observed in 2050.

A misconception that I have commonly encountered is the idea that the net GHG effect of burning over the long term is simply zero. This somewhat cursory interpretation is based on the assumption that although slash burning results in a large immediate release of carbon to the atmosphere, the benefit of avoiding this release is short-lived because, had it not been burned, the debris would eventually release the same amount of carbon through decomposition, and therefore the net GHG benefit must be zero. However, my research shows that there are two important GHG benefits of avoided slash burning that this simple assessment does not consider. First, while the delayed release of carbon is inherently a temporary benefit, a significant proportion of the benefit persists for many decades and even centuries. Current policy in BC considers any mitigation benefit that lasts greater than 100 years to be "permanent". Second, burning debris releases a small fraction of the carbon as CH_4 and the additional, non-carbon GHG N₂O, both of which are more powerful GHGs than CO₂. Even though the same amount of carbon will eventually be released to the atmosphere either way, the climate impact of burning debris will be greater than allowing it to decompose (as measured in terms of CO_2 -equivalents), and this difference is a permanent impact. Both the quantity of GHGs released and the form in which they are released are critical components in assessing the net climate impact of human activities. These results are highly relevant because an accurate quantification of the GHG impact of slash burning is necessary in order to

evaluate avoided slash burning as a potential mitigation or carbon offset strategy. Accounting for the temporary component of the net impact as an offset could over- or underestimate the long-term benefits of avoided slash burning depending on the offset system design. The duration of temporary impacts is an important attribute – carbon that is stored temporarily for a few years and carbon that is stored temporarily for decades or centuries should not be treated as equivalent. My research suggests that subdividing temporary mitigation impacts into more specific categories of impact based on their actual longevity may be beneficial.

DEDICATION

To Emily Clough, who has provided unfailing love, support and encouragement throughout this entire experience, with the occasional dose of perspective when it was most needed. Thank you for always being there – through the fun parts, the stressful parts, the exciting parts, the overwhelming parts, the interesting parts, the frustrating parts, the awesome parts, and the boring parts – always providing companionship and balance.

To my parents, Barbara and Laurence who have both played such a substantial role in shaping who I am. Thank you for the love, support and encouragement along the various pathways and the many years that have ultimately led me to where I am today.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like express the utmost gratitude and appreciation to the many people who collectively supported my research and graduate studies.

To my supervisory committee, Ken Lertzman and Caren Dymond, thank you for the guidance and support you have provided throughout this project – I have learned a tremendous amount from both of you.

I am extremely grateful to the following funding sources: C.D. Nelson Memorial Scholarship (SFU); Pacific Century Graduate Scholarship (BC); Alexander Graham Bell Post-Graduate Scholarship (NSERC); Faculty of Applied Sciences NSERC Research Assistantship (SFU); Canada Study Grant and Canada Access Grants (Canada); and Student-Led Research Grant (BC).

John Andres, Bruce McKerricher, and Buck Tanner provided critical insights into slash-burning practices in the Strathcona TSA. Qinglin Li provided, then answered many questions about, the inventory and growth and yield data sets. Stephen Kull answered many questions about the CBM-CFS3. Werner Kurz inspired me to pursue research on forest carbon issues. Many others provided valuable information along the way, including Brian McIntosh, Ed Korpela, Sari Saunders, Bill Beese, Paul Bavis, Greg Baxter, and Bruce Markstrom.

Thank you to the extended REM community of friends, classmates, instructors, and staff, who have made REM a wonderfully enriching experience, academically, personally, and professionally. From the first days, it was clear that my time in REM would be amazing, and yet it has surpassed even those initial, optimistic expectations. Thank you to each of you for all you have contributed.

Paul Whitfield and Nadine Schuurman each provided and mentored me in earlier research positions. Those experiences have been foundational in my journey toward and success in my graduate studies – thank you greatly.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appr	oval	ii		
Abst	ract	iii		
Exec	cutive Summary	iv		
Dedi	cation	. vii		
Ackr	nowledgements	. viii		
Tabl	e of Contents	ix		
List o	of Figures	xi		
List o	of Tables	. xii		
1: In	troduction	1		
1.1	Climate Change and the Role of Forest Management	1		
1.2	Forest Sector Strategies for Climate Change Mitigation	4		
1.3	Burning of Post-harvest Debris	6		
1.4	Climate Change Mitigation Targets and Strategies	.13		
1.5	Current Research Project	.17		
2. W	ethods	19		
21	Study Area	10		
2.1	Carbon Budget Model	22		
2.2	Data	25		
2.5	2.3.1 Inventory Data Growth & Viold Data and THLB Definition	25		
	2.3.2 Forest Harvesting Schedule	28		
	2.3.3 Estimates of Burning	.30		
2.4	Analysis Framework	.32		
	2.4.1 Time Period of Analysis	.32		
	2.4.2 Primary Scenarios	.32		
	2.4.3 Long-run Analyses	.36		
	2.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses	.37		
	2.4.5 Factors Excluded	.41		
2.5	Determination of GHG Impacts	.41		
	2.5.1 Basic Carbon Dynamics of Slash Pile Burning	.41		
	2.5.2 Quantifying the GHG impacts of Slash Pile Burning	43		
3: R	esults	55		
3.1	Landscape Carbon Balance of the Strathcona TSA: the THLB in Context	55		
3.2	Forest Harvesting Schedule57			
3.3	Burning Scenarios	.59		
3.4	Annual GHG Impacts (2008-2050)5			
3.5	Cumulative GHG Impacts (2008-2050)	.63		

3.6	Long-run Impacts (2008-2250)		64
3.7	Sensiti	ivity Analyses	68
⊿ ח	iecueei	ion	69
4.0			
4.1	rempo		70
	4.1.1	Distinguishing Temporary and Permanent Impacts	70
	4.1.2	Key Characteristics of the Temporary Impact	/1
	4.1.3	Distinguishing among Different Types of Temporary Impacts	12
	4.1.4	The Relevance of Temporary Impacts that are Effectively Permanent	
	4.1.5		70
4.2	Sensiti	ivities and Secondary Effects	78
	4.2.1	Sensitivity to Critical Indirect Effects	78
	4.2.2	Secondary Effects of Burning of Post-harvest Debris	82
4.3	Extens	sions and Limitations	83
	4.3.1	Comparison with Other Regional GHG Emissions	83
	4.3.2	Potential for Avoided Burning as a Carbon Offset	84
	4.3.3	Illustration of Broader Principles about Forests	85
	4.3.4	Comparability to Actual Levels of Slash Pile Burning	86
	4.3.5	Potential Effects of Climate Change	87
	4.3.6	Applicability of Results beyond this Study	90
	4.3.7	Data and Model Limitations	92
5: C	onclus	ion	96
Refe	erences	3	101
Lia			44E
rigu	nes		. 115
Tab	les		. 129

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	The Strathcona Timber Supply Area (TSA) on Vancouver Island, British Columbia.	115
Figure 2.	Conceptual illustration of the greenhouse gas (GHG) implications of either burning or not burning slash.	116
Figure 3.	Total ecosystem carbon flux for the Strathcona TSA.	117
Figure 4.	The common harvest schedule	118
Figure 5.	Area harvested and subsequently burned (2008-2050).	119
Figure 6.	The area of old-growth and second-growth forest subject to the "clearcut with slash pile burning" treatment over the study period for the low burning scenario.	120
Figure 7.	The annual GHG impact of burning debris piles, relative to the zero burning baseline, for each burning scenario.	121
Figure 8.	The cumulative GHG impact of burning debris piles, relative to the zero burning baseline, for each burning scenario.	122
Figure 9.	The GHG impacts of burning over the long-run (2050-2250)	123
Figure 10	Accumulation and subsequent release of carbon in the DOM pools of the zero burning baseline, relative to the high burning scenario, during the study period (2008-2050) and over the following 200 years	124
Figure 11	. A diagram of the decomposition of the forest floor and soil as represented in CBM-CFS3.	125
Figure 12	. The effect of potential regeneration delays on the cumulative temporary GHG impacts of the moderate burning scenario, relative to zero burning.	126
Figure 13	The cumulative GHG impact in 2050 of burning debris piles during 2008-2050 for each burning scenario, relative to the zero burning baseline.	127
Figure 14	Cumulative net GHG impact in 2050 by duration of impact.	128

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Disturbance matrix for used to represent clearcut harvesting with the burning of debris piles.	129
Table 2. The percentage of the total harvested area subject to "clearcut with slash pile burning" for each burning scenario, stratified by old-/second-growth.	130
Table 3. Global warming potential values (GWP) for a 100-year time horizon, as used by the IPCC (Solomon et al., 2007).	130
Table 4. The cumulative GHG impact in 2050 of slash burning since 2008,relative to the zero burning baseline, with the contribution of thepermanent and temporary components to the total net impact	130
Table 5. The cumulative GHG impacts in 2050 that will persist at least 100 years (permanent, multi-centennial temporary and centennial temporary components) of two burning scenarios in terms of equivalent regional GHG impacts.	131

1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Climate Change and the Role of Forest Management

The evidence supporting human-induced global climate change is "unequivocal" (IPCC, 2007; Solomon et al., 2007). Little debate remains that global climate is changing and that this phenomenon is primarily attributable to human activities. The most recent assessment report of Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) asserts that it is "extremely likely" (95% probability) that anthropogenic forcings have resulted in significant net global warming over the past 250 years (IPCC, 2007; Solomon et al., 2007). The debate has shifted to determining what society can and should do about climate change (Mathews, 2007). Consequently, assessing all human activities in terms of their contribution to or mitigation of anthropogenic climate change is becoming increasingly important (Kurz, 2007). Forest management is one such activity and likely one of importance.

Forests have a critical role to play in strategies to mitigate emissions because forests have the greatest potential of all terrestrial biomes to store and cycle carbon (Dixon et al., 1994; Murray et al., 2000; Binkley et al., 2002; Nabuurs et al., 2007; Wayburn et al., 2007). Forests ecosystems comprise the majority of terrestrial carbon, comprising up to 80% of all aboveground carbon stocks and 40% of all belowground carbon stocks (Dixon and Turner, 1991; Dixon et al., 1994). Globally, forests are the most expandable long-term carbon

sink (Dixon et al., 1994), yet the forest sector is currently the second largest carbon source (Stern, 2006). Forest management activities can therefore provide critical opportunities for increasing carbon sequestration and mitigating greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Nabuurs et al., 2007).

In response to growing awareness of climate change, forest and land managers are interested in evaluating – and are under increasing pressure to demonstrate – the carbon impact of forest management activities on their landscape (Kurz et al., 2002). Many forest management activities are potentially useful for maintaining or increasing carbon sequestration, protecting existing carbon stocks, or reducing GHG emissions. Avoiding or reducing the burning of residual debris after harvesting a forested area, as examined in this project, is one such action. This stand-level mitigation approach avoids the immediate emissions of GHGs to the atmosphere produced by burning such debris. The IPCC states that strategies that avoid or reduce activities that would otherwise result in immediate emissions from existing carbon stocks achieve the greatest short-term gains (Nabuurs et al., 2007). Furthermore, even stand-level operational activities may offer substantial contributions to regional, provincial or national carbon budgets because small changes can be significant when aggregated over large landscapes (Kurz et al., 2002; Colombo et al., 2005).

In my research, I focus on the management outcomes related to carbon; however, carbon is only one objective among a diverse set of potential objectives for forest management. The objectives of forest management in North America have evolved in depth and complexity over the past century (Bengston, 1994;

Bettinger and Chung, 2004; Wang, 2004). Early management focused solely on efficient timber supply, but over time forest management has expanded to increasingly include other potential objectives such as recreation, hunting, fishing, scenic values, wilderness areas, wildlife habitat, water, and other nontimber resources (e.g. Nash, 1990; Bengston, 1994; Bettinger and Chung, 2004). With an increasing understanding of ecosystem services and appreciation for the intrinsic value of ecosystems, ecosystem-based management and its variants have also become common management goals (e.g. Bengston, 1994; Grumbine, 1994; Yaffee, 1998; BC Ministry of Natural Resource Operations, 2010).

By the 1990s, managing for carbon sequestration was an important new emphasis (King, 1993; Turner et al., 1995). Carbon sequestration and the maintenance of terrestrial carbon storage pools are now recognized as pertinent management objectives. Nevertheless, it is critical to acknowledge that the newer management objectives do not supersede those preceding them – all of these objectives are still relevant. Forest managers and scientists have merely broadened their definition of sustainable forest management; diverse societal values are embedded in forests, and management is frequently structured around multiple social, economic, and ecological performance goals (Government of British Columbia, 2002; Baskent and Keles, 2008; BC Ministry of Forests, Mines and Lands, 2010). Management to restore the "naturalness" of forests and increase carbon storage is often consonant with other habitat, biodiversity, and hydrology objectives, and may even increase mid- to long-term timber supply (Hoover et al., 2000; Wayburn et al., 2007). Carbon storage is yet

another value of well-managed forests (Hoover et al., 2000; Baskent and Keles, 2008).

1.2 Forest Sector Strategies for Climate Change Mitigation

Within the forest sector, management actions with the objective of increasing sequestration or decreasing emissions should aim to protect or expand carbon stocks, maintain or enhance the function of existing carbon sinks, and reduce carbon sources (Dixon et al., 1994; Kurz et al., 2002). Fortunately, many potential management actions exist to achieve these objectives. The IPCC categorizes management actions within the forest sector into the broad strategies of maintaining or increasing: 1) forest area, 2) stand-level carbon density, 3) landscape-level carbon density, and 4) carbon stocks in forest products for longterm storage or product substitution (Nabuurs et al., 2007).

We can implement the first strategy through avoiding deforestation and increasing afforestation/reforestation of formerly forested lands (Dixon et al., 1994; Stinson and Freedman, 2001; Nabuurs et al., 2007; Gaboury et al., 2009). Reducing delays in the establishment of new stands, enhancing the growth rates of new or young stock, stocking stands at appropriate densities, or reducing prescribed burning can contribute to the second strategy (Kurz et al., 1998; Colombo et al., 2005; Nabuurs et al., 2007; Black et al., 2008). Protecting oldgrowth forests from conversion to managed forests, utilizing variable retention as a silvicultural strategy to maintain existing carbon stocks on a portion of the landscape, extending the rotation lengths for harvesting, or protecting against natural disturbances can achieve the third strategy's goal of increasing

landscape-level carbon density (Harmon et al., 1990, 1996a, 1996b; van Kooten et al., 1995; Kurz et al., 1998; Binkley et al., 2002; Harmon and Marks, 2002; Colombo et al., 2005; Wayburn et al., 2007; Kurz et al., 2008b). Finally, we can realize gains from the fourth strategy by manufacturing forest products with longer lifespans and using forest products to displace materials that are more emissions-intensive, including as direct substitutes for fossil fuels (IEA Bioenergy, 1998, 2005; Stinson and Freedman, 2001; Colombo et al., 2005; Petersen and Solberg, 2005; Gustavsson et al., 2006; Gustavsson and Sathre, 2006).

The IPCC further evaluates subcomponents of these broad classes in terms of the timing of both their impact and their costs (Nabuurs et al., 2007). This additional evaluation considers whether the impacts of a strategy will be immediate, gradual or delayed over a short- or long-term timeframe, whether the impacts will be one-time or on going, and the extent to which the impacts will be permanent. The type and scale of decision required to implement each strategy is also relevant to consider. Landscape-scale actions such as fire suppression likely require decisions at a regional scale. Stand-level actions will presumably be dependent on operational-level decisions, but may also require enabling regulations from higher authorities to be in place as well. The scale of decisions needed may influence the expediency with which a strategy can be implemented, independent of the temporal dynamics of the physical action. Presumably a mitigation strategy that is technically feasible and within the spectrum of currently permitted operational-level decisions will be easier and quicker to implement than

one that requires revolutionary changes in landscape planning regulations or government policy.

Some forest management actions to increase carbon sequestration can also result in numerous secondary, non-climate benefits including sediment retention, erosion prevention/soil conservation, water infiltration, mitigation of floods and droughts, enhanced wildlife habitat, amenities, recreation opportunities, scenic values, and even increased future wood supply (Binkley et al., 2002; Wayburn et al., 2007; Baskent and Keles, 2008). Managing forests for carbon sequestration may simultaneously increase the health, productivity, diversity and resilience of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems of the forest (Wayburn et al., 2007). However, some forest management actions aimed at achieving carbon objectives may conflict with other objectives. Successful management for carbon sequestration may sometimes come at the expense of delayed or forgone forest products and timber revenues (Baskent and Keles, 2008; Kurz et al., 2008b), and some of the methods to increase carbon sequestration within the forest ecosystem involve interference with natural ecological processes (e.g. fire suppression or intensive silviculture). The magnitude and direction of these secondary impacts will vary with each strategy and the circumstances under which a particular strategy is applied.

1.3 Burning of Post-harvest Debris

Burning is a major tool around the world for the management of forests, grasslands and agricultural areas (Levine, 1991). Globally, the most common applications of biomass burning include clearing land for agricultural

development, maintaining agricultural lands through the burning of crop stubble, weeds and waste, generating heat or energy, and eliminating or reducing waste from forest harvesting (Andreae, 1991; Levine, 1991), which is the focus of my research. In BC, such burning of post-harvest debris makes a notable contribution to the annual GHG emissions associated with the forestry sector (Dymond and Spittlehouse 2009). I examine the GHG impacts of this management action in a single region in BC, as a case study to evaluate whether the intentional avoidance (or reduction) of such burning might represent an effective GHG mitigation strategy at a regional scale.

Post-harvest debris includes foliage, branches, tops, sub-merchantable trees, broken or defective boles, and other non-merchantable material remaining after the removal of all merchantable material. On Vancouver Island, forestry operations commonly leave a large portion of this harvest residue in large accumulations or piles. In this paper, I use the terms "slash" and "debris" interchangeably to refer to this post-harvest residue. Burning some of these slash piles (once conditions are appropriate for safe and effective burning) is a common practice on Vancouver Island (Baxter and Proteau, 2008; J. Andres, pers. comm.; B. McKerricher, pers. comm.) and across BC (FPB, 2008). Post-harvest debris piles are commonly considered a fire risk and therefore must be removed under BC's Wildfire Act (Government of British Columbia, 2004) and Wildfire Regulation (Government of British Columbia, 2005). In my research I focus solely on the burning of piled debris and do not examine the practice of broadcast burning, where the debris to be burned is distributed across the cut

block (i.e. not accumulated in piles prior to burning). Though once common,

broadcast burning practice is rarely applied on the coast any more (Beese et al., 2006; J. Andres, pers. comm.). However, much of the relevant literature primarily on broadcast burning as there is a relative paucity of literature on pile burning in general and specifically for BC.

Burning of post-harvest debris in general, but broadcast burning especially, has historically been one of the most common tools for site preparation in many parts of the world, including BC (Burton, 1992). In BC, forest managers have commonly used prescribed fire for the following objectives (Feller, 1982):

- 1. reduction of fire hazard
- 2. facilitation of planting
- 3. improvement of environmental conditions for seedling establishment and growth
- 4. control of undesirable brush or regeneration
- 5. eradication of insects and disease
- 6. improvement of aesthetics
- 7. enhancement of browse or grazing potential
- 8. improvement of wildlife habitat, especially for ungulates

Managers and researchers have also used broadcast burning in ecological restoration to mimic the role of natural fire in fire-adapted ecosystems (Covington et al., 1997; Kranabetter and Macadam, 1998; Allen et al., 2002). However, even as of the early 1990s, the use of prescribed burning for site preparation (broadcast burning in particular) was decreasing due to concerns with cost, escaped fires, and air quality, which was reflected by corresponding changes in provincial policy and supported by the advancement of new alternatives (Burton, 1992).

A selection of feasible alternatives to the burning of post-harvest debris are available, though the suitability of any particular method is dependent on the specific landscape, harvesting methods and the objectives for which burning would have originally been used. Alternatives to open burning (broadcast or pile) include modifying harvest methods to reduce slash volume or concentrated accumulation, creating wildlife piles, dispersing debris, with or without breaking down material (e.g. crushing, shredding, mulching, grinding, etc.), increasing the utilization of secondary wood products such as chips, fuel pellets, ground fibre, cants, shingles, shake, firewood, or log salvage, employing alternative methods of vegetation control including herbicides, herbivores, grass seeding, mulches or other physical barriers around seedlings, prioritizing mechanical methods of site preparation, possibly still requiring a reduced level of piling and burning; or conducting no site preparation, which may require increased fertilization or additional silvicultural interventions later (Burton, 1992; Schnepf, 2006; FPInnovations, 2009). These alternatives apply across BC and are neither specific to nor even necessarily all applicable to the coast.

I do not explore specific alternatives to burning in my research but their existence underpins its relevance. Without any viable alternatives to the burning of slash piles, the proposition that avoided burning may be a practical strategy for reducing GHG emissions might have little policy or operational relevance. However, where slash pile burning is currently applied on the coast, the decision not to burn is often a relevant management alternative (B. McKerricher, pers. comm.). Even in circumstances where there are no reasonable alternatives to

burning debris, it would still be beneficial to understand the potential GHG costs of this management activity either for offsetting its impacts elsewhere or simply increasing our knowledge of the GHG impacts of forest management activities. In general, there is a growing expectation for forest managers to evaluate the carbon implications of all activities against potential trade-offs, striving to balance carbon stocks and flows in a manner that best meets society's demands (Kurz, 2007).

The GHG implications of burning debris piles consist of four broad elements. First, the material in the pile that is combusted releases its carbon to the atmosphere immediately whereas it would otherwise release it only slowly through decomposition. To clarify, the material of interest is that which the burning would actually consume, as the fire will leave some unconsumed material that will then decompose over time. Second, a small portion of total emissions from the combustion of debris consists of GHGs that are much more powerful than carbon dioxide (CO_2) . Third, using burning to reduce debris may increase the rate of successful regeneration or increase the area available for regeneration, thereby enhancing the strength of the future stock as a carbon sink. Fourth, reducing the volume of debris on the landscape may reduce the risk of future wildfires initiated in or propagated through the original setting that could possibly result in very large GHG emissions and the destruction of established carbon sinks if nearby stands are burned. If the relative impacts of the first two factors are sufficiently large and the impacts of the latter two factors are

sufficiently small, then the avoidance of slash pile burning could be a feasible strategy for reducing emissions.

One of the distinct advantages of utilizing avoided or reduced slash pile burning as a potential climate mitigation strategy is that there are relatively low barriers to implementation. The act of not burning debris piles does not require advanced technology, complex institutions, or otherwise costly measures. Managers already choose not to burn piles in many cases for a variety of other reasons (i.e. not for climate mitigation; Burton, 1992; Schnepf, 2006; J. Andres, pers. comm., D. Tanner, pers. comm.), but a significant amount of burning is still performed in the Strathcona TSA in circumstances where burning is not absolutely necessary (B. McKerricher, pers. comm.). This situation presents opportunities for applying avoided burning as a mitigation strategy because in the absence of such a strategy this burning would continue to occur – the GHG impacts of avoided burning, if any, would truly be additional with respect to the status quo.

Aside from its carbon implications, the use of prescribed burning for site preparation has other ecological impacts. Prescribed burning can have impacts on soil organisms, structure, and chemistry, water quality, and site productivity (Feller, 1982, 1983). However, these ecological impacts can be positive or negative and are highly site-specific, varying with ecosystem, species, and burn characteristics (Feller, 1982, 1983). For example, one study found that in northcentral BC, burned sites benefited the most by responding to burning with higher levels of productivity (Kranabetter and Macadam, 1998), but another study in

northern Washington found that unburned sites benefited the most with significantly higher levels of advanced regeneration (Elman and Peterson, 2005). However, these studies as well as the literature in general focus predominantly on broadcast burning and there appears to be little or no literature that specifically examines the impacts of pile burning.

Conversely, the management choice not to burn post-harvest debris also has some important non-GHG impacts. As implicitly suggested above, two tradeoffs that occur when debris is left unburned are that future regeneration (natural or assisted) may be impeded, and that the increased volume of unburned debris left on the landscape may increase the risk of future wildfires. Additional ecological, aesthetic, and health benefits are also associated with leaving harvest slash unburned. Residual woody material, especially coarse woody debris, provides numerous ecological benefits such as supplying organic matter and nutrient reserves, contributing to the stabilization and development of the forest floor and soil organic matter, influencing micro-topography and microclimate, offering structural characteristics that are useful for wildlife habitat, acting as refugia for organisms after the harvesting disturbance, and providing moisture storage (e.g. Caza, 1993 Marcot, 2002; Ucitel et al., 2003; Bunnell and Houde, 2010; Sullivan et al., 2011). Reducing the amount of smoke produced from burning generates both aesthetic and health benefits (e.g. McMahon, 1999; Core, 2001; Core and Peterson, 2001; Radke et al. 2001; Sandberg et al., 2002). Smoke management has been important objective in the management and regulation of burning in recent decades in North America (e.g. Burton, 1992;

Hardy et al., 2001; Sandberg et al., 2002), and air quality continues to be a chief concern associated with biomass burning in BC (e.g. BVLD AMS, 2006; Baxter and Proteau, 2008; Government of British Columbia, 2011). Furthermore, there may be economic benefits because burning can be costly but the net economic impact will depend on the specific alternatives applied. The secondary ecological, aesthetic, health, and economic impacts of burning or not burning are not explored in any greater depth in the present work.

The findings of my research will have relevance beyond the current study area of the Strathcona TSA because the use of prescribed fire as a management tool is very common almost wherever society actively manages forests. Throughout western North America, burning has been widely used as a management treatment after harvest (Feller, 1982). In the remainder of this paper, I use the terms "burning", "slash/debris burning" and "pile burning" interchangeably to refer to the prescribed burning of slash piles and not broadcast burning. Where I address broadcast burning, I explicitly refer to it as such.

1.4 Climate Change Mitigation Targets and Strategies

Avoiding "dangerous anthropogenic interference" with the global climate system is the primary goal of climate policy (IPCC, 2007; Mignone et al., 2008). A common expression of this goal is the target of preventing average global temperature from increasing by more than 2°C (Weaver et al., 2007; Meinshausen et al., 2009; Zickfeld et al., 2009; O'Neill et al., 2010). However, due to uncertainties in the carbon cycle and climate response, climate modellers

can only make probabilistic estimates of the level of cumulative global emissions corresponding with a specific temperature response (Weaver et al., 2007; Meinshausen et al., 2009; Zickfeld et al., 2009). Maintaining at least a 50% probability of keeping the rise in average global temperature to less than 2°C by 2100, requires reducing global emissions by 50-70% below current levels by 2050 (Mathews, 2007; Weaver et al., 2007; Meinshausen et al., 2009; O'Neill et al., 2010). Nevertheless, the 2°C threshold will eventually be broken even with emissions reductions of 90% (Weaver et al., 2007). Furthermore, if action is not begun immediately with major global-scale changes in place within 1-2 decades, the ultimate goal of stabilizing the climate at pre-industrial levels will no longer be attainable and catastrophic outcomes will be much more likely to occur (Mathews, 2007; Mignone et al., 2008; Vaughan et al., 2009). Early, rapid initiation of mitigation strategies is more effective than relying on aggressive action after a period of delay (Vaughan et al., 2009).

The scale and urgency of these mitigation targets necessitates large-scale strategies that are immediately implementable. Pacala and Socolow (2004) argue that society could solve the "carbon and climate problem" of the next 50 years by using a portfolio of "stabilization wedges". Each wedge represents a 1 Gt C/year reduction by 2054 based on a set of technologies or approaches to reduce carbon emissions that is technically feasible today and has already been demonstrated on an industrial scale. Stabilizing emissions over the next 50 years by scaling up current technology would keep the long-term goal of stabilizing atmospheric CO_2 at less than double pre-industrial levels within reach, but the

large reductions required in the second half of the century to actually meet that goal would still require advanced technologies that will need to be developed in the next few decades (Pacala and Socolow, 2004). Another approach outlines a seven-step strategy, comprising innovative global initiatives and new institutions, to reduce global emissions by 70% by 2050 (Mathews, 2007). Mathews (2007) designed these steps to be self-financing and reliant only upon existing technology. However, even when relying only on current technology it seems that global-scale initiatives will inevitably encounter delays – when published, it had been suggested that this seven step package could be undertaken at a global level by 2010 (Mathews, 2007).

If large-scale mitigation strategies will commonly face some degree of delay, there may then be an important role for small-scale mitigation strategies that, although smaller, are implementable immediately. Strategies with immediate or early benefits might represent the leading edge of larger "wedges" or standalone actions that can help offset the costs of delays in starting greater initiatives. Either way, the maximum benefit will likely occur when efforts directed towards smaller, immediate actions operate in parallel to the advancement of the larger, global-scale initiatives ultimately necessary to meet these ambitious targets, rather than diverting attention and resources.

Even with delays in major action, society can still achieve its long-term stabilization targets with aggressive mitigation once action begins to compensate for the delay (Vaughan et al., 2009). However, this approach might result in "transient peaks" in atmospheric CO_2 and possibly temperature that could

temporarily exceed long-term targets. The chance of such an overshoot and its duration increase as the delay in action lengthens. This risk is especially concerning in the context of climatic "tipping points" (Vaughan et al., 2009). This concern may suggest that a role exists even for strategies that are known to only have temporary mitigation impacts on a sub-century scale. Such strategies might only make a small contribution to achieving long-term targets but might contribute to reducing peaks that could exceed critical atmospheric thresholds in the interim.

The question of whether or not temporary carbon storage or emissions mitigation can contribute meaningfully towards climate change mitigation has been debated in the literature (e.g. Dutschke, 2003; Herzog et al., 2003; Kirschbaum, 2003, 2006; Dornburg and Marland, 2008; Fearnside, 2008). The answer to this question is affected by many assumptions about timelines, economic discount rates, the value of carbon over time, particular measures of climate change used and their corresponding measures of mitigation success, the range of benefits considered, other confounding policy decisions, and structural differences among specific actions. No definitive answer exists, but many authors (e.g. Chomitz, 1998; Marland et al., 2001; Herzog et al., 2003; Dornburg and Marland, 2008; Fearnside, 2008) conclude that, for reasons beyond the example hypothesized above, even carbon sinks that are known to be temporary have value in the context of climate change mitigation. However, temporary mitigation actions should be explicitly recognized as such and not consume resources otherwise destined for permanent mitigation strategies. In

my research, I discuss the actual benefit of temporary impacts only in theoretical terms but do not examine it in depth.

1.5 Current Research Project

Avoiding the burning of debris piles is one potential action within forest management that might reduce GHG emissions. This action is a fine-scale, stand-level strategy that generates both permanent and temporary GHG benefits. However, avoided slash burning is also an action that is currently feasible and initiated by operational-level decisions, and is therefore executable on a short time scale with immediate impacts.

In this research, I evaluate whether avoiding burning post-harvest debris piles could be an effective strategy for reducing GHG emissions in a timber harvesting land base (THLB). I focus on a case study in the Strathcona Timber Supply Area (TSA) on Vancouver Island, British Columbia (BC). My overall objective in this project is to determine the medium- and long-term GHG impacts of the burning of post-harvest debris piles from 2008 to 2050, while explicitly considering the duration of those GHG impacts. The majority of this impact is only temporary in nature, resulting from the difference between the immediate release of carbon from burning relative to the prolonged release of carbon that would have occurred had the burned material been left to decompose instead, a discrepancy that slowly dissipates over time. However, a portion of the total GHG impact of burning slash piles represents a permanent impact, resulting from differences between combustion and decomposition in terms of the molecular forms of emissions.

I simulate the GHG impacts of burning debris piles across a real landscape, with heterogeneous forest composition and long-term harvesting patterns that are in a state of transition. The results from my research are thus situated within the context of broader patterns of change on the landscape, including large decreases in the allowable annual cut (AAC) over time, a shifting balance between the harvest of old-growth and second-growth stands, and yearto-year variability in the annual volume harvested. The outputs of my simulations are therefore somewhat more convoluted than those that might result from the simulation of a theoretical stand or landscape without these complicating factors. However, this complexity strengthens the relevance of my results because I examine the impacts of slash pile burning over a real landscape undergoing realistic shifts in management.

2: METHODS

2.1 Study Area

I focussed on the Strathcona TSA, located within the Campbell River Forest District, in coastal BC, Canada. I chose this study area in the context of larger series of proposed investigations within the Campbell River Forest District, which has a long history of industrial logging, a large human footprint in the forest, a history of using slash burning, a more recent history of carbon related research, and good quality inventory data (C. Dymond, pers. comm.; K. Lertzman, pers. comm.). The Strathcona TSA spans north-central Vancouver Island and extends to include a portion of the mainland coast (Figure 1). The TSA is composed of three distinct subunits or "timber supply blocks": the Kyuquot block on the west coast, the Sayward block on the east coast, and the Loughborough block on the mainland. The Strathcona TSA includes the communities of Campbell River, Courtenay, Comox, Cumberland, Gold River, Tahsis, Zeballos, Sayward, and Kyuquot, and the territorial interests of fourteen First Nations. The Strathcona TSA covers approximately 407,000 ha, including 347,000 ha of productive forest area, of which approximately 160,000 ha are considered available for harvesting (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004).

The high degree of topographic and climatic variation within the Strathcona TSA has produced an area that is ecologically rich and diverse. The TSA provides habitat for 300 species of migratory and resident birds, 45 species

of mammals, and 13 species of amphibians, including 15 red-listed species (endangered or threatened) and 35 blue-listed species (vulnerable) (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). The region is characterized as a "mosaic of wet, mountainous terrain dissected by streams and rivers, many of which create estuaries as they enter the ocean" (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004).

Within the Biogeoclimatic Ecosystem Classification (BEC) system (Meidinger and Pojar, 1991), the Strathcona TSA includes Coastal Western Hemlock (CWH), Mountain Hemlock (MH), and Alpine Tundra (AT) zones. The dominant BEC zone is CWH, which comprises 99% of the THLB. Three CWH variants constitute 75% of the THLB – CWHvm1 (45%), CWHxm2 (20%), and CWHvh1 (11%) (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). The submontane very wet maritime variant (CWHvm1) is characterized by a "wet, humid climate with cool summers and mild winters featuring relatively little snow" with high but variable precipitation and long growing seasons, and is dominated by western hemlock (Tsuga heterophylla) and amabilis fir (Abies amabilis) with minor amounts of western redcedar (*Thuja plicata*) (Green and Klinka, 1994). The very dry maritime subzone (CWHxm) is characterized by "warm, dry summers and moist, a mild winters with relatively little snowfall" with long growing seasons and frequent water deficits, and is dominated by Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), accompanied by western hemlock and lesser amounts of western redcedar (Green and Klinka, 1994). The southern very wet hypermaritime variant (CWHvh1) is characterized by a cool climate with widely variable precipitation but very little snowfall and is dominated by western hemlock, accompanied by

amabilis fir, western redcedar, and lesser amounts of yellow-cedar (*Callitropsis nootkatensis*, formerly *Chamaecyparis nootkatensis*; Little et al., 2004) (Green and Klinka, 1994).

Industrial logging started around the 1880s in the eastern portions of the TSA (present day Loughborough and Sayward Supply Blocks) (J. Andres, pers. comm.). Logging operations were at first limited to areas accessible by water but gradually expanded inland, peaking in this area during the 1930s (J. Andres, pers. comm.). Logging in the western portion of the TSA (present day Kyuquot Supply Block) did not begin until the 1960s, limited by poor accessibility, but increased substantially until its peak in the 1980s/90s when the AAC began to be reduced for the entire TSA and logging operations began to gradually shift back to second-growth stands reaching maturity in the Sayward Supply Block (J. Andres, pers. comm.). When the Strathcona TSA was established in 1986, the AAC was set at 1.65 million cubic metres. The AAC increased to its maximum of 1.69 million cubic metres in 1992 and has decreased since then to its current level of 1.22 million cubic metres (effective August 1, 2005) (Snetsinger, 2005).

The total population of the Comox and Strathcona Regional Districts in 2009 was 110,282. The Comox-Strathcona Regional District (which subdivided into the two regions above in 2008) is similar in geographic extent to the Strathcona TSA, including all the same communities plus an additional 8,000-10,000 people in non-incorporated areas that do not fall within the TSA. The regional population has increased approximately 10.1% from its recent low in 2001 that followed a 3.8% decline during 1997 to 2001 (BC Statistics, 2009a). As

of 2005, the regional income dependency on forestry was 14%, with the public sector accounting for 26% and tourism accounting for 6% (BC Statistics, 2009b).

2.2 Carbon Budget Model

I used the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3, version 1.1) (Kull et al., 2007; Kurz et al., 2009; Natural Resources Canada, 2009). The CBM-CFS3 is an empirically based, data-driven model that simulates forest carbon dynamics at the stand- or landscape-scale. The model first uses forest inventory data to derive carbon stocks, then growth and yield data along with user-defined information on disturbances to simulate carbon within the forest ecosystem dynamically. The model keeps track of carbon stocks in five live biomass "pools" and nine dead organic matter (DOM) and soil pools, tracking transfers of carbon among these pools and removals of carbon to the atmosphere. This "one inventory plus change" approach allows the examination of future scenarios based on the effect of disturbance events and major ecological processes. For each species in a particular eco-zone, volume-tobiomass expansion factors, turnover rates within each pool, and decomposition rates are taken from a national database of ecological parameters used by the CBM-CFS3. The model is compliant with the guidelines of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) for methods of carbon estimation and it meets the requirements under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and its Kyoto Protocol (Kull et al., 2007; Kurz et al., 2009).

The CBM-CFS3 has evolved through two decades of improvement and advancement (Kurz et al., 1992; Kurz et al., 1995; Kurz and Apps, 1999; Kurz et

al., 2002; Kull et al., 2007; Kurz et al., 2009). This model has been used to investigate the carbon budget implications of many forest management issues and disturbance types at different scales. Recently, the model has been used to quantify the impact of the mountain pine beetle outbreak in BC on the province's carbon budget (Kurz et al., 2008a), to reconstruct the historic carbon budget of a Vancouver Island landscape converted from old-growth to managed forests (Trofymow et al., 2008), and to evaluate the sensitivity the carbon budget of Canada's managed forests to the risk of natural disturbances, in preparation for Canada's decision whether or not to include forest management under its obligations to the Kyoto Protocol (Kurz et al., 2008b).

The CBM-CFS3 model represents the impact that a disturbance will have on carbon pools by a "disturbance matrix". Every unique disturbance type needs its own disturbance matrix that describes all the transfers of carbon among carbon pools that occur when the disturbance takes place. The matrix expresses transfers in terms of the proportion of carbon in each pool that is transferred to other particular pools.

For the present analyses, I used the "clearcut harvesting without salvage" disturbance matrix in the CBM-CFS3 to represent the management action of applying clearcut harvesting with no subsequent debris treatment (i.e. no burning). The "clearcut with slash-burn" disturbance matrix was originally developed as hybrid between the practices of piling and burning debris and broadcast burning debris, in order to represent the mixed occurrence of these two practices across large landscapes (C. Dymond, pers. comm.). Consequently,
this default disturbance matrix is not an ideal representation of piling and burning where only the one practice applies. On the coast, very little broadcast burning is performed anymore (J. Andres, pers. comm.). Common practice within the Canadian Forest Service's (CFS) Carbon Accounting Team has been to implement the piling and burning of slash as a two-step process, by first applying the "clearcut harvesting without salvage" disturbance matrix to the target area, then subsequently applying the "clearcut with slash-burn" disturbance matrix (C. Dymond, pers. comm.). This has the effect of decreasing the proportion of the biomass that is consumed by burning and immediately released to the atmosphere from the merchantable, foliage, sub-merchantable, and other pools, but increasing the proportion of the biomass that is consumed in the coarse roots pool. The CFS Carbon Accounting Team has applied this approach in its research projects, considering it an improvement in the representation of piling and burning of post-harvest debris in CBM-CFS3 simulations (C. Dymond, pers. comm.). I have followed a similar approach in my research, except that I have consolidated these two disturbance matrices into a single disturbance matrix in order to apply it in a single step for streamlined computation (**Table 1**). Other than the modified approach used to simulate clearcut harvesting with piling and burning of slash, the simulations were run utilizing the default ecological parameters in the CBM-CFS3 for the Pacific Maritime ecozone.

2.3 Data

2.3.1 Inventory Data, Growth & Yield Data and THLB Definition

I acquired forest inventory data from the Vegetation Resources Inventory (VRI) database and growth and yield data (i.e. yield over time) from the Variable Density Yield Prediction (VDYP) Model from the Forest Analysis and Inventory Branch of the BC Ministry of Forests and Range (Q. Li, pers. comm.). The VRI database projects inventory data to January 1, 2008. The VRI data for the entire TSA contains 41,203 stand records, of which 34,385 have associated growth and yield data ("growth curves") from the VDYP model. The growth and yield dataset contained 24,263 unique growth curves for the TSA, each representing a different stand type.

The CBM-CFS3 model (Kull et al., 2007; Kurz et al., 2009) requires users to specify classifier values to define unique stand types so that similar stands can be aggregated and associated with a single growth curve. I developed a classification system for stand types to decrease computational complexity by reducing the number of unique stand types while attempting to maintain variation within the data. To define stand type, I used six initial classifiers: leading species and percent coverage, the second most dominant species and percent coverage, site index, and BEC zone. The species coverage variables used intervals of 5%. The site index variable used intervals of two units up to a level of 48. This classification resulted in 3830 unique stand types within the study area.

I also explored classification schemes using other permutations of the same variables, evaluating them by comparing the variation among the individual

growth curves aggregated into a single growth curve for the resultant stand type. I chose the present scheme as a balance between improving computability and maintaining ecological complexity. Although I also examined classification schemes using the three most dominant species, using the two leading species to classify stand types offered sufficient precision. In most cases, the first and second species dominate the stand composition. The combined coverage of the two leading species exceeds 75% in 95% of all stands, and exceeds 80% in over 90% of all stands.

I reduced the data for the entire TSA to a subset representing the Timber Harvesting Land-base (THLB). The THLB is defined as "crown forest land within the timber supply area where timber harvesting is considered both acceptable and economically feasible, given objectives for all relevant forest values, existing timber quality, market values and applicable technology" (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). The on-the-ground delineation of the THLB is thus variable over time as the forest and management objectives change. The current specification of the THLB, acquired from the Forest Analysis and Inventory Branch of the B.C. Ministry of Forests, is based on the most recent information available and includes 143,668 ha (Q. Li, pers. comm.).

I created consolidated growth and yield curves for 1662 of the 3830 unique stand types (as defined above) by calculating the area-weighted average of the growth curves of all of the stands within each stand type. I compared the variation among the constituent growth curves and the resultant growth curve as part of the assessment of different stand type classification systems, though I do

not describe these results any further. The remaining 2168 stand types only have a single occurrence and therefore I simply used the original growth curve associated with each particular stand and did not need to consolidate multiple growth curves. For the stand types with a singular occurrence, 32 of the associated growth curves had no actual data for volume and were removed, resulting in a final data set of 3798 unique growth curves. I excluded stands with no trees or no site index in their inventory record, or no growth curve associated with their stand type from further analysis. In total, I excluded 8718 ha due to incomplete data.

The final data set used for simulations contains 9124 stands covering 134,950 ha, or 84.1% of the THLB as reported in the TSR (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). These data contain 3798 unique stand types, as per the classifiers described above, each associated with a single growth curve. I further stratified the forest inventory into old- and second-growth stands, defining stands greater than 125 years old (as of the inventory date, January 1, 2008) as old-growth stands, as per the definition used in the TSR (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). Forest of this age may only represent "older forest" rather than "old-growth forest", as the structural and ecological complexity of true old-growth forest is likely not achieved until these forests have reached at least 180-200 years old (K. Lertzman, pers. comm.); however, the definition of old-growth from the TSR (i.e. greater than 125 years old) is used here for consistency. Such old-growth stands constitute 80.0% of the total THLB area simulated. The CBM-CFS3 model requires specification of the most recent disturbance to have

affected each stand; however, the inventory contains relatively sparse data on the last disturbance type for each stand. I have assumed that the last disturbance was clearcut harvesting for second-growth stands, whereas the last disturbance was stand-replacing fire for old-growth stands.

2.3.2 Forest Harvesting Schedule

I developed a single harvesting schedule, common to all simulations, specifying which stands to harvest in each year of the study period. A harvest schedule is a required input for the CBM-CFS3. By using a common schedule for all simulations, the pattern and timing of harvesting is the same among all of the scenarios simulated and therefore I can attribute the differences between scenarios to the differences between the post-harvesting practices that each scenario represents. I developed this common harvest schedule based on the total volume harvested, the old-growth proportion of the harvest volume, and criteria for the minimum harvest age.

I modelled the annual harvest volume and the proportional contribution of volume from old-growth stands after the "base case" in the Strathcona TSR (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). The base case represents one potential timber supply trajectory based on current management practices that accounts for short- to long-term goals and constraints within the TSA. The analyses in the TSR use the base case scenario as a common baseline against which to compare changes in assumptions about management practices, underlying data, and other constraints. However, the TSR base case is not a forecast of actual harvest levels since AAC is only determined for periods of approximately five

years at a time. I adjusted the harvest volume upwards to reflect the fact that the final determination of AAC for the current period was higher than that of the base case. I adjusted the old-growth proportion of the harvest downwards to reflect the fact that old-growth stands currently represent approximately 70% of total harvested volume, whereas they represent 100% of the harvested volume for the first decade of the base case (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2007). Each stand becomes eligible for harvest once its growth rate has reached at least 95% of its maximum annual increment and its merchantable volume has exceeded 350m³/ha, as per the specifications used in the TSR (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004). However, these criteria only determine eligibility but do not specify the timing of actual harvest, which may occur many years after a stand reaches its minimum eligible age.

I used the "relative oldest first" rule to select stands for harvesting in each year, which specifies that the harvest order is prioritized based on the age of each stand relative to the minimum age at which it became eligible for harvesting. For each stand selected for harvesting, 85% of the total volume was counted toward the annual volume targets, matching the default parameters used in the CBM-CFS3 to specify the proportion of merchantable material that is transferred to the forest products pool when harvesting occurs. Stands would then be selected for harvest in the order of their relative age until the annual harvest volumes (as stratified by old- and second-growth proportions) were as close to the target volumes as possible without exceeding them. I did not subdivide or re-order stands to achieve the annual volume targets more

precisely. Since I used the same harvest schedule across all scenarios, the resulting deviations from the target volumes are not critical. The final schedule results in approximately 42.7 million m³ being harvested over 50 years. I developed a 50-year harvest schedule but only utilized the first 43 years in the present simulations. The average annual area harvested is 1396 ha with an average volume of 612 m³/ha. These values are slightly lower than the TSR base case but still comparable (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2004).

2.3.3 Estimates of Burning

It was not possible to acquire accurate and definitive data on the extent to which the practice of piling and burning post-harvest debris currently occurs across the Strathcona TSA. The Annual Reports of the Ministry of Forests report the area treated each year by burning for site preparation, but from 1994 onward they do not separately account for different types of prescribed burning (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2009). Prior to 1994, the reports differentiate among alternate forms of burning, though broadcast burning was the dominant method, comprising over 82% of all area burned for site preparation during 1981 to 1993 (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2009). However, these values are only reported by Forest Region and not by TSA or even Forest District. Therefore, the only estimates from these reports are the annual averages for the entire Coast Forest Region, and the regional averages may not necessarily be representative of the Strathcona TSA specifically. The values in recent years reflect lower levels of total burning (predominantly broadcast burning) than the estimates of pile burning specific to the Strathcona TSA (from Ministry of Forests

staff within the Campbell River Forest District). The Forest Practices Board (2008) anecdotally documents the burning of debris piles for the purposes of waste disposal and fire hazard abatement; however, based on the professionals and experts I consulted with, the extent to which burning for these purposes is captured by the statistics on site preparation as reported in the Annual Reports is unclear.

In place of data, I developed broad estimates of the level of burning within the study area based on consultations with staff from the Ministry of Forests who had experience and knowledge specific to practices in the Strathcona TSA. I intended these estimates to at least capture the broad range of variation in the application of this practice across space and time. The actual area subject to the piling of debris and the volume of debris actually burned within each piled area are both highly variable, depending on many factors such as stand type, harvest method, topography, remoteness, local climate characteristics, and other factors. The relative influence of each of these factors varies over time and among locations within the TSA; it is impossible to know how they will actually vary over the next several decades. Although these estimates are a simplification of a complex reality, they provide an approximation of how much burning could realistically continue to occur within the Strathcona TSA. The goal is to provide reasonable estimates that capture the current range of variability and will plausibly contain the future business-as-usual levels of burning.

2.4 Analysis Framework

2.4.1 Time Period of Analysis

The primary period for the analysis is 2008 to 2050. The VRI database projects the inventory data to January 1, 2008, making 2008 year 1 of the simulation. The year 2050 is an important focal point within the context of climate change research and policy. This date is a common benchmark for predicting impacts of climate change, evaluating alternative emissions scenarios and mitigation strategies, and setting mid-term GHG reduction targets (Pacala and Socolow, 2004; Nabuurs et al., 2007; Solomon et al., 2007; Weaver et al., 2007; G8, 2008; Government of British Columbia, 2008a; Government of Canada, 2009). Mid-century targets provide a critical bridge between near-term targets (e.g. Kyoto commitment period, 2008-2012) and long-term targets (e.g. 100-200 year stabilization goals), providing guidance and clearer policy signals for decision-makers while maintaining long-term climate policy options (O'Neill et al., 2006, 2010). Climate modellers have also found that emissions in the year 2050 are important determinants of long-term climate outcomes (Weaver et al., 2007; Meinshausen et al., 2009; O'Neill et al., 2010).

2.4.2 Primary Scenarios

I explored the impacts of debris pile burning through four basic scenarios, representing the GHG impact of low, moderate, high, and very high levels of burning applied across the landscape. To isolate the impact directly attributable to the particular level of burning, I calculated the difference between the results of the simulation of that particular level of burning simulation and the results of the

simulation of the baseline where zero burning occurs in order to determine the GHG impacts of each burning scenario. That is, I simulated the impact of each burning scenario, but expressed this impact as the relative difference between the simulation of that burning scenario and the baseline simulation with no burning.

Each burning simulation substantially simplifies the variable manner in which burning is applied across the landscape. I modelled the application of debris pile burning as an all-or-nothing treatment. That is, in each burning simulation, a proportion of the total area of harvested stands is harvested via "clearcutting with debris pile burning" and the remaining area is harvested by "clearcutting", with no burning of any debris. The precise levels of burning actually applied across the Strathcona TSA are variable both spatially and temporally. Reducing this complex variation to a single definitive value is difficult task; although these scenarios aim to encompass the plausible current and future variability, they represent a substantial simplification of a dynamic reality.

In the zero burning simulation, all stands are harvested by clearcut and no debris is burned. I used this simulation as the baseline against which I compared the simulations of the four different levels of burning to determine the relative impact of each burning scenario. I developed the first three burning scenarios based on the rough estimates provided by staff in the Ministry of Forests on the proportion of harvested stands subject to piling, the proportions of piles that are piled at the roadside, the proportion of blocks subject to at least some burning, and the proportion of roadside piles burned, with all estimates stratified by old-

and second-growth status. I further transformed these estimates were into a range of estimates that would specify the proportion of harvested stands subject to piling and burning in a world in which the practice of piling and burning is applied in the all-or-nothing manner described above.

In the low burning scenario, 3% of the old-growth area harvested and 6% of the second-growth area harvested are subject to debris pile burning. In the moderate burning scenario, the area subject to burning is 4.5% of old-growth harvest and 9% of second-growth harvest; and in the high burning scenario, burning is applied in 6% of the harvested old-growth and 12% of the harvested second-growth (**Table 2**). I designed these three burning scenarios (i.e. low, moderate and high) to encompass variability within practices currently and over the past decade. I presented the resultant scenarios back to the same staff at the Ministry of Forests to confirm that these scenarios were a reasonable characterization of the average level of piling and burning across the TSA.

These burning scenarios appear to affect a larger area on the landscape than is reported for total burning (all methods of burning, but predominantly broadcast burning) in the Ministry of Forests Annual Reports for 2000 onwards (BC Ministry of Forests and Range, 2009). When I applied the low burning scenario to the Strathcona TSA, I found that the annual area subject to piling and burning was similar to the amounts reported for total burning in the 2000s in terms of absolute area and was slightly larger in terms of the percentage of the total area harvested. When I applied the moderate and high burning scenarios to the Strathcona TSA, I found that the area affected was higher than the amounts

reported for total burning in the 2000s but similar to the amounts reported for the 1990s, both in terms of absolute area and as a percentage of the total area harvested. However, the Annual Reports only describe statistics for the Coast Forest Region as a whole, thus representing average values for the entire coast of BC. Direct estimates for either the Campbell River Forest District or the Strathcona TSA are not possible from these reports except by rough interpolation. Therefore, the Annual Reports have a limited ability to validate these scenarios but do offer some assurance that these estimates are not entirely unreasonable.

I added a fourth scenario, designated as "very high", in which the area subject to debris pile burning is 1.5 times greater than the high burning scenario (**Table 2**). The purpose of the very high burning scenario was to expand the range of burning scenarios considered with a level of burning that, while well outside the current range, has not been unprecedented over the past few decades. When I applied the very high burning scenario to the Strathcona TSA, I found that the annual area subject to piling and burning was similar to the amounts reported for total burning in the 1980s across the Coast Forest Region in terms of the percentage of the total area harvested – before whole-tree-to-roadside harvesting became common practice (C. Dymond, per. comm.).

In a scenario where "clearcut with debris pile burning" is applied to X% of the harvested area, the scenario was implemented by applying the treatment to X% of every stand that is harvested rather than simulating repeated Monte Carlo runs selecting X% of the harvested stands (by area) each time. This approach

greatly reduces the number of simulations needed while still capturing the variation present across the landscape. The ultimate result should be the same as the long run average of many simulation runs in which all stands being harvested were equally eligible candidates for the application of debris pile burning, as is the assumption in this project.

2.4.3 Long-run Analyses

I conducted further analyses to determine the long-term impact over the subsequent two centuries of the slash pile burning applied up to 2050. If some portion of the cumulative GHG impacts of burning is only temporary in duration, reflecting the difference between immediate and delayed emissions, then assessing the timeframe over which those diminishing, temporary impacts exist is important. I determined the long-term effect of the burning of slash piles from 2008 to 2050 by extending each of the burning scenarios and the zero burning baseline by an additional 200 years after 2050, but with no further harvesting or burning. This design allowed me to isolate the long-term impacts of the 43 years of applying slash pile burning across the landscape (2008-2050) from the confounding factors of additional harvesting and burning that might actually occur on the landscape. The results of these analyses thus demonstrate the degree to which the impacts of this particular practice over this particular period will persist or change over the following 200 years.

2.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses

I conducted a sensitivity analysis to assess how robust the results are to potential regeneration delays due to the physical footprint of unburned debris piles. The space that piled slash occupies may reduce the area available for regenerating stock or otherwise impede planting. Increasing the amount of space available for planting new stock and increasing the overall regeneration potential of the site is commonly part of the rationale for piling and burning debris. If the regeneration of the new stand is constrained either spatially or temporally because of leaving unburned debris, this will reduce the carbon sink function of the new growing stock by reducing the number of young trees sequestering carbon as they grow. Such a reduction or delay in the uptake of carbon may offset some of the potential carbon gains initially achieved by avoiding burning (i.e. delaying the release of carbon and avoiding methane (CH_4) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) emissions from combustion). The magnitude of this potential effect on the overall GHG impact of avoiding debris burning is therefore important to quantify.

Research quantifying the impact that leaving unpiled or unburned debris may have on the regeneration potential of a site is limited. In north eastern Ontario, one study estimated that debris piles, if left unburned, would cover four to seven percent of the harvested land and that this portion of the harvested area might experience regeneration delays of 10 to 30 years (Luke et al., 1993). Although these estimates will vary hugely depending on the amount of original debris, which varies with forest type, forest age, and utilization rates, and on

decomposition rates, comparable estimates of the impact in coastal BC are simply lacking. Instead, I gathered information from several foresters with extensive experience within the Strathcona TSA.

The information I was able to find suggests, unsurprisingly, that the reality in the Strathcona TSA is guite different from that of northern Ontario. A cumulative physical footprint for slash piles of even 4-5% of the cut block area is much larger than is ever observed in the TSA, except for one particularly extraordinary case (D. Tanner, pers. comm.). Two licensees operating within the TSA similarly estimated that the total physical footprint of slash piles within a cutblock might commonly be around 1% (J. Andres, pers. comm.). Piles that are at least 30 years old and only partially degraded are commonly encountered, implying that 30 years may be toward the lower bound of a potential effect, but empirical data are unavailable because the longevity of unburned slash piles is not tracked (D. Tanner, pers. comm.; B. Beese, pers. comm.). Furthermore, the size and longevity of a pile as a physical structure is not necessarily an accurate proxy for the degree to which it may impede the establishment and growth of the new stock. As the pile breaks down, seedlings may establish themselves in small openings along the edge of the pile or on nurse logs sooner than change in the overall structure and footprint of a pile becomes apparent. Young trees surrounding the pile may actually benefit from increased resources, either directly from the release of nutrients from debris or indirectly from reduced competition for light and water in this artificial gap (B. McKerricher, pers. comm.; D. Tanner, pers. comm.). Even if piles last 30 to 50 years with only moderate degradation, it

is unknown whether natural regeneration on the pile site would be delayed in equal measure. It may be unrealistic therefore to assume that regeneration is delayed by 50 years just because the coarse components of the pile have lasted that long.

Based on such information, the potential negative impact that unburned piles might have on the establishment of a new stand does not appear to be an actual concern in the Strathcona TSA. Within the TSA, unburned piles almost never impede the ability to plant cut-blocks to their target density – successful planting is possible wherever harvesting occurred (D. Tanner, pers. comm.). The presence of unburned slash (whether piled or not) may make planting more difficult, but it is always possible to find enough planting spots to achieve fully stocked stands (D. Tanner, pers. comm.). The abatement of fire risk is always the basis for the decision to burn the piles that accumulate at the roadside; the practices forester I spoke with could only recall one exceptional case when part of the rationale for burning was a concern about plantable space and the ability to fully restock the block (D. Tanner, pers. comm.).

Even though the information gathered suggests that the presence of unburned debris piles does not have a meaningful influence on the ability to fully stock harvested areas, I still performed a sensitivity analysis on this factor. In other landscapes, this effect is important and it is still a potential influence in the present study area, if only in theory. Determining how sensitive the results from this study are to this effect, if in fact it actually exists, is therefore still relevant. The sensitivity analysis tests the impacts of four different permutations of a

partial regeneration delay on the moderate burning scenario. These regeneration delays represent the failure to fully replant harvested stands that would have otherwise been cleared by slash burning and therefore fully plantable. I only tested the sensitivity of the moderate burning scenario. The regeneration delays I tested were combinations of both the length of the delay and the area affected. I tested delays of 30 and 50 years, affecting 1% and 2% of the area that would have otherwise been piled and burned. The area affected is a percentage of the area that would be eligible for burning in a particular scenario, not a percentage of the total area harvested. For example, if 5% of the harvested area is subject to clearcut with slash burning, then 1% of that 5% might experience a regeneration delay if burning was not done (i.e. 0.05% of the harvested area). I do not account for the possibility of delayed regeneration or under stocking on the 95% of the harvested area that is not subject to debris burning because the effect would be identical across all scenarios, occurring independently of any decision regarding slash burning. In my research project, this effect is only important to explicitly include where there is a possible difference between a burning simulation and the zero burning baseline (i.e. on the proportion of the harvested area subject to slash burning in each scenario). I implemented this sensitivity analysis by incorporating these partial regeneration delays into the zero burning simulation against which I compare the moderate burning simulation to determine the relative GHG impacts of the moderate burning scenario.

2.4.5 Factors Excluded

I have excluded from consideration all factors that I expected to have an identical impact across all scenarios (i.e. regardless of the area subject to piling and burning) from the analyses. For example, natural disturbances have not been included in these analyses because I have assumed that such processes would affect all scenarios equally. These excluded elements affect the accuracy of the absolute measures of the carbon stocks and fluxes in any particular scenario, but not the relative measures between scenarios because the missing elements are those that would be identical in all scenarios and therefore exhibit relative differences of zero even if they were included in the analyses. One factor that is excluded but could have an important effect on the relative GHG impacts of avoided slash burning is the potentially increased risk of wildfire directly associated with relative differences in the amount of unburned debris left on the landscape in each scenario. This only concerns the possibility of fire that is a direct consequence of the application of different treatments among scenarios and does not refer to the background rate for natural wildfire that would occur equally in all scenarios regardless of their treatment. I could not evaluate the incremental fire risk from leaving additional unburned debris on the landscape in my research but I explore its relevance in the discussion.

2.5 Determination of GHG Impacts

2.5.1 Basic Carbon Dynamics of Slash Pile Burning

In simple terms, when a slash pile burns, the fire consumes much but not all of the debris in the pile and leaves a portion of the debris unconsumed after

the fire. The combustion produces emissions of various GHGs, whereas the debris not consumed by the fire will decompose over time, slowly losing its carbon to the atmosphere as CO₂. However, if the pile does not burn, then all of the debris will eventually decompose. Therefore, the fate of the debris that escapes consumption by the fire during a slash pile fire is the same in either case and is of little interest in the present investigation because it does not differ between the alternate actions (i.e. burning and not burning). When evaluating the GHG impacts of burning slash piles relative to not burning them, the portion of the debris of interest is that which combusts if the pile burns but decomposes if the pile does not burn.

The conceptual illustration in **Figure 2** shows the two potential fates of the carbon in this portion of the debris that would be fully combusted, depending on whether the slash pile actually burns or decomposes. If burning occurs, the debris releases its carbon to the atmosphere immediately as CO_2 , carbon monoxide (CO), and CH₄. In addition to these carbon-based GHGs, burning the debris also produces a small amount of N₂O, a much more powerful GHG. However, if burning does not occur, then the debris only releases its carbon slowly over time through decomposition as CO_2 . The net GHG impact of burning the slash is the difference between the total GHG emissions resulting from burning and those still resulting in the absence of burning, measured in terms of carbon dioxide equivalents (CO_2 -e).

A portion of this net difference is likely to be only temporary in nature because it reflects the difference between the carbon released thus far through

decomposition of the debris and the carbon that the debris will eventually release once it fully decomposes (**Figure 2**). However, even once the debris releases all of its carbon through decomposition, the total GHG impact (i.e. tons CO₂) will still not be as high as the slash burning alternative that includes the release of more powerful GHGs. This portion of the net difference between the two alternatives will be a permanent difference because once the debris releases all of its carbon through decomposition, it cannot release more carbon and it cannot change the molecular form of the carbon already released.

2.5.2 Quantifying the GHG Impacts of Slash Pile Burning

The key outputs from the CBM-CFS3 used to evaluate the impact of debris pile burning are the changes in the total carbon stocks over the analysis timeframe, the net annual carbon flux from the ecosystem to the atmosphere, and the amount of GHGs released from burning debris. When examining the carbon budget of a landscape, the two basic attributes analysed are carbon stocks and carbon fluxes. Stocks are the measure of the amount of carbon contained in a particular pool(s) at a particular time. If total carbon stocks are the increasing over time, the landscape is a carbon source. Fluxes are the transfers or flows of carbon among pools or between pools and the atmosphere. If the net carbon flux from the landscape to the atmosphere is positive, then the landscape is a carbon source is a carbon source.

One of the metrics most commonly reported is total ecosystem carbon, which is the sum of all the carbon stocks in all living biomass and dead organic

matter pools for the landscape at a particular time. This metric represents an aggregate measure both across carbon pools but also across time, because current carbon stocks are the product of the processes, disturbances and transfers in all previous years. The impact of a particular burning scenario can be determined by comparing the total ecosystem carbon stocks of that scenario with the baseline simulation in which zero debris burning occurs. Relative to the absolute measure of the total ecosystem carbon, the divergence between any burning scenario and the baseline appears insignificant – harvesting only disturbs approximately 1% of the THLB each year and only a small percentage of the harvested area is subject to slash burning in any given scenario. Each year of the simulation, the vast majority (over 99%) of the total carbon stocks across the landscape are subject to identical changes irrespective of the scenario chosen. Therefore, I examine the relative differences between each burning scenario and the baseline simulation to isolate the difference in carbon stocks that is attributable to the level of slash burning applied. The difference between the carbon stocks of a burning scenario and the zero burning baseline in a particular year illustrates the cumulative impact of applying the practice of burning over all the previous years.

Total annual ecosystem carbon flux is the net transfer of carbon between the atmosphere, terrestrial ecosystem carbon pools (living biomass, DOM and soil), and losses to the Forest Products Sector over a single year. Following Stinson et al. (2011), I refer to this flux as the "net GHG balance" in the calculations below. Since both the CBM-CFS3 model and this research are

forest-based, the convention is to consider a net increase of carbon in the forest ecosystem as a positive flux. The flux of carbon from terrestrial pools to the atmosphere is measured either in terms of amount of carbon, while ignoring the molecular form of the carbon released, or in terms of GHGs, accounting for the specific carbon-based GHGs released as well as including non-carbon GHGs. When biomass burns, the carbon transferred to the atmosphere is released as CO_2 , CO and CH₄. The global warming potential (GWP) of CH₄ is substantially larger than that of CO_2 , meaning emissions of CH_4 will have a disproportionately larger contribution to global warming than an equivalent amount of carbon emitted in the form of CO₂. Combustion also releases N₂O, a non-carbon GHG with an even larger GWP, though in much smaller amounts. I use the term "GHG emissions" to refer collectively to the amount of CO_2 , CO, CH_4 , and N_2O emitted to the atmosphere, converted to CO_2 -e according to their GWP values. I use the term "carbon emissions" to refer only to the amount of carbon released to the atmosphere without including N₂O or accounting for differences in GWP among carbon-based GHGs.

The net GHG impact of the action of burning is the relative difference between the net GHG balance for a burning simulation and that of the zero burning baseline. I calculated this difference between the two potential trajectories for the landscape (i.e. either burning year after year or completely avoiding burning year after year) in terms of both annual and cumulative impacts. The annual impact is the difference between the GHG balances of the burning and the non-burning trajectories as measured in Year y and the cumulative

impact is the sum of those annual impacts up to Year y (**Eq. 1**). In this section, I provide a simple definition the parameters below the equation in which they first appear but provide more detailed explanations of each new parameter in the text.

[Eq. 1] Net Cumulative GHG Impact_y = $\sum_{i=1}^{y}$ Net Annual GHG Impact_i

y year of measurement

i initial year of period of analysis

The annual impact represents the difference between the emissions from combustion of debris in the burning simulation and the emissions from decomposition of debris in the non-burning simulation that actually occurs in a particular year. However, whereas the emissions from burning in a particular year are independent of previous years, the emissions from decomposition are not. Since the emissions from burning are immediate, the emissions from combustion in a particular year in the burning simulation solely reflect the burning performed in that same year. Since the emissions from decomposition occur slowly over many years, the emissions due to decomposition in a particular year in the nonburning simulation reflect the initial decomposition of the debris not burned in that year as well as continued decomposition of the unburned debris still remaining from previous years of avoided burning. Ultimately, the cumulative GHG impact is the measure of greatest interest. After engaging in burning year after year over the landscape, the most important question is, "what has the overall impact of these continuous years of burning been up to Year y". The impact in one particular year of the difference between a sequence of years with burning and a sequence of years with no burning is not as important as the cumulative impact

of all of the previous years in the sequence up to that particular year. However, I calculated the cumulative impact by first calculating the annual impacts.

The net annual impact of burning is the relative difference between the net GHG balance for a burning simulation and that of the zero burning baseline (**Eq. 2**). As shown in **Eq. 3**, the net GHG balance (INV_{GHG}) equals the net ecosystem exchange (NEE_{GHG}) plus the carbon losses to the forest products sector ($C_{-}HWP$) (Stinson et al., 2011). NEE_{GHG} represents the net transfer of carbon and non-carbon GHGs between the atmosphere and terrestrial pools, in terms GHG emissions. $C_{-}HWP_{GHG}$ represents the export of carbon from terrestrial pools to harvested wood products, converted to CO₂-e. In this project, I applied the same level of harvesting to all simulations, therefore $C_{-}HWP_{GHG}$ is identical among all simulations and I can simplify **Eq. 2** to **Eq. 4**.

[Eq. 2] Net Annual GHG Impact_{GHG y}= $INV_{GHG b y} - INV_{GHG b=0 y}$

INV	net GHG balance
GHG	measured in terms of GHG emissions
b	burning simulation
b=0	non-burning simulation

[Eq. 3]	$INV_{GHG y} = NEE_{GHG y} + C_HWP_{GHG y}$			
	INV	net GHG balance		
	NEE	net ecosystem exchange		
	C_HWP	carbon losses to the forest sector		

[Eq. 4] Net Annual GHG Impact_{GHG y}= $NEE_{GHG b y} - NEE_{GHG b=0 y}$

 NEE_{GHG} represents the net result of various transfers among terrestrial pools and between these terrestrial pools and the atmosphere. Many of these

components of NEE_{GHG} are identical among all of the burning and non-burning simulations in my study and therefore I factored them out. The live biomass pools in both the burning and non-burning simulations are identical as they are subject to precisely the same patterns of harvest and regeneration and, as discussed in Section 2.5.4, I did not simulate natural disturbances. I therefore determined the net annual GHG impact by examining only the emissions from the DOM and soil pools in the two simulations, as shown in **Eq. 5** in terms of GHG emissions and in **Eq. 6** in terms of carbon emissions. I calculated the carbon emissions from DOM and soil pools (*DOMSoilFlux_C*) for a particular year as the difference between the carbon stock for those pools in the current year and that of the previous year (**Eq.** 7 for the burning simulation, **Eq. 8** for the non-burning simulation), using the CBM-CFS3 output on carbon stocks over time.

[Eq. 5]

Net Annual GHG Impact_{GHG v}=DOMSoilFlux_{GHG b v} -

$DOMSoilFlux_{GHG \ b=0 \ y}$

DOMSoilFlux

exchange of GHGs from DOM and soil pools to the atmosphere (includes combustion and decomposition emissions)

[Eq. 6] Net Annual GHG Impact_{C y}=DOMSoilFlux_{C b y} - DOMSoilFlux_{C b=0 y} C measured in terms of carbon emissions

[Eq. 7]

 $DOMSoilFlux_{C b v} =$

 $DOMSoilCarbonStock_{C b y} - DOMSoilCarbonStock_{C b y-1}$

DOMSoilStocks total carbon stock in all DOM and soil pools

[Eq. 8]

 $DOMSoilFlux_{C \ b=0 \ y} = \\ DOMSoilCarbonStock_{C \ b=0 \ y} - DOMSoilCarbonStock_{C \ b=0 \ y-1} \\$

The annual carbon emissions from DOM and soil pools, as calculated above, arise from combustion and decomposition in the burning simulation (Eq. **9**) and decomposition alone in the non-burning simulation (**Eq. 10**). The CBM-CFS3 reports the annual carbon emissions due to burning and therefore I used Eq. 9 to determine the portion of the annual carbon emissions from DOM and soil pools due to decomposition of non-combusted debris in the burning simulation (i.e. OtherDecomp_C). In the non-burning simulation, I separated the carbon emissions due to the decomposition of debris that otherwise would have been combusted in the burning simulation (*DebrisDecomp_c*) from the carbon emissions due to the decomposition of debris that would be left as unburned debris in either simulation ($OtherDecomp_{C}$) in order to isolate the emissions that actually differ between burning and non-burning trajectories. I then used the value that I calculated above for *OtherDecomp_C* in order to determine the value of *DebrisDecomp_C*). The *OtherDecomp_C* emissions are equal in the two simulations because they represent decomposition emissions that occur in either simulation regardless of whether burning takes place, whereas DebrisDecomp_C is incremental to those emissions because it represents emissions from the decomposition of the debris that is burned in the one simulation but left to unburned in the other.

[Eq. 9]	DOMSoilFlux _C	$DOMSoilFlux_{C b y} = DebrisCombust_{C b y} + OtherDecomp_{C b y}$		
	DebrisCombust _{C b y}	combustion emissions from the debris burned in the burning		
		simulation (i.e. burning and emissions both occur in Year y)		
	$Other Decomp_{Cby}$	decomposition emissions released in Year y from other debris		

[Eq. 10] $DOMSoilFlux_{C b=0 y} = DebrisDecomp_{C b=0 y} + OtherDecomp_{C b=0 y}$

that remains unburned even in the burning simulation

DebrisDecomp _{C b=0 y}	decomposition emissions released in Year y from the debris that
	would have been combusted in the burning scenario in Year y or
	earlier (i.e. includes decomposition in Year y of residual unburned
	debris still remaining from avoided burning in previous years)
OtherDecomp _{C b=0 y}	decomposition emissions released in Year y from other debris
	that remains unburned even in the burning simulation (i.e.
	emissions from debris that decomposes either way;
	$Other DecompReleased_{C \ b=0 \ y} = Other DecompReleased_{C \ b=0 \ y})$

After removing all the components that are identical between a burning simulation and a non-burning simulation and focusing only on those elements which differ, I express the net annual GHG impact simply as the difference between the emissions from the combustion of debris in the burning simulation and the emission from the decomposition of the unburned debris in the non-burning scenario that would have otherwise been burned (**Eq. 11**, derived from substituting **Eqs. 9** and **10** into **Eq. 6**). By using **Eq. 11**, I do not consider the dynamics of debris that would be left to decompose in either of the simulations and instead I only consider the dynamics of the debris that burns in the burning simulation but decomposes in the non-burning simulation, which represents the only actual difference between the GHG impacts of the two simulations.

[Eq. 11] Net Annual GHG Impact_{Cy}=DebrisCombust_{Cby} – DebrisDecomp_{Cb=0y}

To determine the impact of combustion in terms of GHG emissions, I calculated the mass of each carbon-based gas emitted, added N₂O and accounted for the GWP of each GHG. The combustion emissions consist of CO_2 , CO, CH₄, and N₂O; however, the CBM-CFS3 only reports emissions for the first three gases and only in terms of carbon emissions (Eq. 12). I converted the mass of carbon emitted in the form of each gas to the mass of each specific gas by using standard atomic weights (IUPAC, 2007). The CBM-CFS3 model does not track nitrogen cycling and therefore does not report the release of N₂O to the atmosphere from combustion. I calculated the emissions of N₂O as 0.00017 times the CO₂ emissions from burning, as per the CBM-CFS3 foundation paper (Kurz et al., 2009). I subsequently converted all emissions to the common unit of CO₂-e (Eq. 13) based on their 100-year GWP coefficients (Table 2), as reported in the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (Solomon et al., 2007). Standard convention dictates using the 100-year GWP coefficients (e.g. Sambo, 2002; Dymond and Spittlehouse, 2009; Meinshausen et al., 2009). I assumed emissions of CO quickly convert to CO_2 (Kurz et al., 2009).

[Eq. 12] $DebrisCombust_{C b y} = CO_{2 C b y} + CO_{C b y} + CH_{4 C b y}$

[Eq. 13] $DebrisCombust_{GHG \ b \ y} = CO_{2 \ GHG \ b \ y} + CO_{GHG \ b \ y} + CH_{4 \ GHG \ b \ y} + N_2O_{GHG \ b \ y}$

I similarly converted the decomposition emissions of **Eq. 11** into units CO₂-e in order to express **Eq. 11** in terms of GHG emissions (**Eq. 14**). The

DebrisCombust_{GHG} and DebrisDecomp_{GHG} elements are key prerequisites to the determination of the permanent and temporary components of the net impact.

[Eq. 14]

 $Net\ Annual\ GHG\ Impact_{GHG\ y} = DebrisCombust_{GHG\ b\ y} - \\DebrisDecomp_{GHG\ b=0\ y}$

As described earlier, when a single year of burning is performed, the carbon emissions that would eventually be released through decomposition of that debris should it be left unburned is equivalent to the carbon emissions released through its burning (i.e. when GWP and N₂O are not considered; Eq. **15**). These two values are equivalent based on the underlying assumption embedded in the CBM-CFS3 model that eventually (maybe centuries or millennia) the carbon not released through burning will be released to the atmosphere via decomposition and slow soil processes. However, in every year, some of the debris that would have been combusted in the burning simulation actually decomposes (i.e. *DebrisDecomp*_C, **Eq. 10**). In **Eq. 16**, I define a delayed component of the eventual carbon emissions (*DebrisDecompDelayed*_c) as the difference between the decomposition emissions that will eventually result from the debris not burned in a particular year and those that actually occur in that year. However, although I attribute this delayed component to a particular year for accounting purposes, its determination is influenced by previous years because the decomposition emissions occurring in a particular year reflect one year's worth of decomposition for the unburned debris (that would have been

combusted in the burning simulation) from that year and previous years, whereas the eventual carbon emissions are based solely on that year's unburned debris. That is, in terms of decomposition emissions, this annual metric reflects what actually occurs in a particular year (though affected by actions in previous years), rather than just decomposition that is associated with that year's burning/avoided burning. Ultimately, the cumulative impacts, which are derived from the summation of these annual measures, are a more meaningful measure of the GHG impacts of burning over time than the GHG impacts attributed to a particular year. In order to compare decomposition to combustion, I converted the carbon emissions in **Eq. 16** to GHG emissions (**Eq. 17**), as described earlier.

[Eq. 15] $DebrisDecompEventual_{C b=0 y} = DebrisCombust_{C b y}$

[Eq. 16] $DebrisDecompDelayed_{C \ b=0 \ y} = DebrisDecompEventual_{C \ b=0 \ y} - DebrisDecomp_{C \ b=0 \ y}$

DebrisDecompDelayed Emissions from decomposition of unburned debris that have not yet occurred but will eventually

[Eq. 17] DebrisDecompDelayed_{GHG b=0 y} = DebrisDecompEventual_{GHG b=0 y} - DebrisDecomp_{GHG b=0 y}

Eqs. 14-17 represent the critical components I used to calculate the permanent and temporary components of the net annual GHG impact of burning debris relative to leaving it to decompose. I defined the permanent GHG impact of burning as the difference between the GHG impact of the combustion of the unburned debris and the eventual GHG impact of the decomposition of that same

debris (Eq. 18). I defined the temporary impact of burning as the delayed decomposition emissions or the difference between the total GHG emissions that will eventually result from the decomposition of the unburned debris and the GHG emissions from the unburned debris that has decomposed thus far (Eq. 19). As a check, Eq. 20 confirms that the net annual GHG impact is the sum of the permanent and temporary GHG components of that impact, as determined using Eqs. 14, 18 and 19.

[Eq. 18]

 $Permanent \ GHG \ Impact_{GHG \ y} =$ $DebrisCombust_{GHG \ b \ y} - DebrisDecompEventual_{GHG \ b=0 \ y}$

[Eq. 19] Temporary GHG Impact_{GHG y} = DebrisDecompEventual_{GHG b=0 y} - DebrisDecomp_{GHG b=0 y} = DebrisDecompDelayed_{GHG b=0 y}

[Eq. 20]

Permanent GHG Impact_{GHG y} + Temporary GHG Impact_{GHG y}

= $[DebrisCombust_{GHG \ b \ y} - DebrisDecompEventual_{GHG \ b=0 \ y}]$

- + $[DebrisDecompEventual_{GHG \ b=0 \ y} DebrisDecomp_{GHG \ b=0 \ y}]$
- $= DebrisCombust_{GHG \ b \ y} DebrisDecomp_{GHG \ b=0 \ y}$
- = Net Annual GHG Impact_{GHG y}

3: RESULTS

3.1 Landscape Carbon Balance of the Strathcona TSA: the THLB in Context

This research focuses on actions applied within the THLB of the TSA, yet examining only the THLB would give an inaccurate picture of the carbon balance of the entire TSA landscape. Under a business-as-usual harvesting regime, the THLB alone is a carbon source of approximately 250,000-350,000 t C/yr over the period 2008-2023, decreasing to approximately 200,000-250,000 t C/yr over 2023-2050, but the THLB only accounts for approximately 46% of the total area of the TSA (**Figure 3**). The non-THLB portion of the TSA, accounting for the other 54% of the total TSA area, functions as a carbon sink that increases from approximately 125,000 t C/yr in 2008 to approximately 200,000 t C/yr by 2040. Thus, combining both the THLB and non-THLB source/sink factors, the entire TSA is a carbon source of approximately 150,000 t C/yr until the early 2020s, decreasing to less than 50,000 t C/yr by the early 2030s.

However, this is only a crude estimate of the carbon balance of the entire TSA as a managed ecosystem because: 1) as described earlier, I have not included natural disturbances in these analyses, and 2) I have applied the highly simplifying assumption used by the UNFCCC for accounting for harvested wood products (HWP) (IPCC, 2003). This assumption presumes that any harvested carbon transferred into HWP pools as new forest products is merely replacing an equivalent amount of carbon that older forest products reaching the end of their lives (e.g. decomposing or being combusted) are releasing from HWP pools, resulting in zero net change to HWP pools. If the inputs to HWP pools from forest harvesting are equivalent to the outputs from HWP pools to the atmosphere, then an accounting short cut is to represent harvested carbon as an immediate transfer to the atmosphere. This assumption thus conveniently avoids the necessity of tracking carbon within HWP pools. However, reality is rarely so simple and frequently the amount of carbon that new forest products are adding to the HWP pools actually exceeds the amount of carbon that products at the end of their lives are releasing from those pools, therefore violating this assumption (Apps et al., 1999; C. Dymond, pers. comm.). In the present case, approximately 40% of the harvested carbon likely represents an actual net increase in the total carbon that is stored in this long-term storage pool (i.e. after 100 years, the carbon will still be stored in products or landfills) (Dymond, in prep). Figure 3 may therefore overestimate the degree to which the TSA is a carbon source and the TSA could be much closer to being carbon neutral, if not over the entire study period then perhaps during the latter half.

Accounting for the fate of carbon in harvested wood products would require analyses beyond the scope of this project. Such analyses require further modelling with assumptions about the lifespan of short- and long-term forest products and their end-of-life fate (e.g. aerobic decomposition, anaerobic decomposition in landfills and combustion all have very different GHG implications). My research explicitly focuses only on the effects of the particular

management action of slash pile burning applied within the THLB portion of the TSA. However, examining the THLB and non-THLB components of the landscape carbon balance (i.e. **Figure 3**) does suggest that processes within the non-THLB make important contributions to achieving landscape objectives, such as achieving carbon neutrality across the entire managed forest landscape of the TSA. Given that I have not considered harvested wood products or natural disturbances that may result in loss of carbon from stored pools, these estimates of the landscape carbon balance of the entire TSA are unlikely to be quantitatively accurate, but the conclusions about the relative roles of the THLB and non-THLB portions of the landscape as sources or sinks are likely to be robust.

3.2 Forest Harvesting Schedule

The common harvesting schedule that I developed for all the scenario simulations starts with an initial AAC of approximately 1.2 million cubic metres (**Figure 4A**). In 2013, the annual harvest is reduced to approximately 1.0 million cubic metres and then further reduced in 2023 to its midterm level of approximately 0.8 million cubic metres. For 2012, the actual harvest volume that I simulated is substantially less than the target harvest level (i.e. used to guide construction of the schedule). This discrepancy is a product of the exceptional size of the next eligible forest polygon to be harvested and the rules used to select stands for harvesting, as described earlier. Harvesting the next stand in 2012 would have exceeded the annual target, though leaving it for the following year results in the 2012 volume being substantially less than the target.

Effectively this means that the reduction in annual harvest from 1.2 to 1.0 million cubic metres occurs one year earlier than I intended. In the harvesting schedule used, the proportion of the total annual harvested volume that is from old-growth stands is approximately 70% in 2008. Stepwise decreases occur in 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028, and 2038, reducing the old-growth percentage of the total harvested volume to 52%, 38%, 22%, 8%, and 4%, respectively.

Over the first few years approximately 1800 ha/yr are harvested (Figure **4B**). There are large decreases in the area harvested corresponding with the large reductions in the overall volume of harvest. Medium-term levels fluctuate within 1100-1250ha/yr for almost 20 years before increasing to 1250-1500ha/yr. The increase in the area harvested observed in the last 10 years is attributable to a decline in the density of the stands being harvested; neither the overall harvest volume nor the proportional split between old-growth and second-growth changes in the last decade of the study period. The area harvested in 2050 is exceptionally high relative to the preceding decade as well as the following decade (not shown), which otherwise demonstrate a relatively consistent range. This anomalous value in the final study year is an artefact of the methodology by which I produced the forest harvesting schedule – it represents an outlier, but not the start of an upward trend. In the CBM-CFS3, the merchantable biomass transferred to the forest products pool represents the amount harvested in terms of tons of carbon. The initial harvest is approximately 300,000 t C/yr (Figure 4C). The amount harvested decreases to approximately 250,000 t C/yr by 2013 and to its medium-term range of roughly 200,000-225,000 t C/yr by 2023.

3.3 Burning Scenarios

Each burning scenario specifies a proportion of the total area harvested to which the approach of clearcut harvesting then burning of all debris piles will be applied, stratified by old- and second-growth. Figure 5 illustrates the actual area of this treatment under each scenario. The remainder of the area harvested each year will also be clearcut but with no debris burning. Under the moderate burning scenario, for example, approximately 100 ha of the total area harvested per year are subject to the burning of debris following harvest. This value varies within a relatively consistent range until about 2040 when it begins to increase gradually, corresponding directly with the increase in total harvested area (i.e. Figure 4B). Even though the total annual area harvested decreases substantially over the first two decades, the same trend is not evident in the area treated with debris burning because of the increase in the area of second-growth forest that is harvested (which is subject to a higher proportion of burning). The two opposing factors appear to roughly balance each other. By the second half of the study period almost none of the area subject to burning occurs in old-growth stands, corresponding with the reduction of old-growth harvest to less than a tenth of the total harvest volume (**Figure 6**). The area of second-growth subject to burning continues to increase throughout the period of study.

3.4 Annual GHG Impacts (2008-2050)

The permanent component of the net annual GHG impact of burning postharvest debris piles, relative to the baseline of zero burning, is shown for each scenario in **Figure 7A**. The permanent component is the impact attributable to
the difference in CO_2 -e between carbon released as multiple GHGs via combustion and the same quantity of carbon eventually released solely in the form of CO_2 via decomposition. The permanent component is directly proportional to the total GHG emissions from burning, though much smaller because non- CO_2 GHGs comprise only a small fraction of the total emissions from burning.

I show the temporary component of the net annual impact for each scenario, relative to the baseline of zero burning, in **Figure 7B**. The temporary component arises from the difference between the immediate release of carbon through burning and the slow release of carbon through decomposition. For each year, I calculated the annual impact based on the combustion and decomposition that occur in that year. However, the activities of previous years influence this annual measure because the decomposition that actually occurs in a particular year includes decomposition of both unburned debris from burning avoided in that year and unburned debris that remains from the burning avoided in previous years.

For any particular year of slash burning, the difference between the immediate and delayed release of carbon will be greatest immediately after burning. Over time, as the unburned material slowly decomposes, the magnitude of the temporary component of the total GHG impact decreases. However, **Figure 7B** represents the aggregate effect of multiple burning events over time, where each individual year of burning follows burning conducted in the previous year as well. For example, the temporary component of the impact specific to the

burning applied in 2008 would decrease over time, as described above, but a similar signal that begins in 2009 and another one in each subsequent year confound this signal. However, the basic trend in which the magnitude of the temporary impact is largest initially and decreases over time is still evident in **Figure 7B**.

The net annual impact of each burning scenario represents the difference between the total annual GHG impact of a particular burning scenario and the total annual GHG impact of the baseline simulation with zero burning (**Figure 7C**). The net annual impact is also the sum of the permanent and temporary components in each year. In all scenarios, the annual impact of burning is largest initially, decreasing over the first two decades then stabilizing within a relatively consistent range over the latter two decades. The two substantial decreases in 2012 and 2023 coincide with the two large reductions in the overall harvest allowance.

The trend and patterns observed in the net annual GHG impact are predominantly influenced by the temporary component, which comprises the majority of the total impact (**Figure 7**). However, whereas the temporary component decreases over the period studied, the permanent component remains relatively constant and therefore makes up an increasing proportion of the total, rising from approximately one tenth initially to one quarter of the annual GHG impact by the 2040s. But this proportion is not explored in further detail because the results could not be meaningfully isolated to the events of a specific year.

For example, in Year 1, the temporary impact is the difference between the large immediate release of carbon through combustion (burning scenario) and the very small release of carbon through the decomposition of some of the unburned material (zero burning baseline). However, for a particular year within the study period, the zero burning baseline will have higher levels of carbon being released through decomposition due to the accumulation over previous years of unburned debris, all slowly decomposing. Therefore, the temporary component of the annual impact in Year X (**Figure 7**) reflects the portion of the total impact in that year that is inherently temporary, but it does not indicate how much of that is directly attributable to the actions of that particular year. However, the permanent component in Year X is directly attributable to the actions in that year because the release of carbon as non-CO₂ gases instead of CO₂ occurs only at the time of burning and does not have a time-delayed aspect.

During the last decade of the management period (2040-2050), the action of having burned debris since 2008 produces an additional annual GHG source of 4,690 t CO_2 -e/yr, 7,035 t CO_2 -e/yr, 9,380 t CO_2 -e/yr, or 14,070 t CO_2 -e/yr, for low, moderate, high, or very high burning scenarios, respectively. These values reflect the GHG emissions from combustion that are incremental to the emissions that would have otherwise occurred from the decomposition of the combusted debris. I report the average for 2040-2050 because 2050 itself is an anomalous year in the study, as described earlier. In each scenario, the temporary component comprises 76% of this average increase in the annual carbon source and the permanent component contributes the remaining 24%.

3.5 Cumulative GHG Impacts (2008-2050)

The permanent and temporary components of the cumulative GHG impact of burning post-harvest debris piles, relative to the zero burning baseline, are shown for each scenario in **Figure 8A, B**. The permanent component increases over the entire study period, which is a predictable effect of an annual permanent impact. However, the temporary component also continues to increase over the entire study period despite being inherently impermanent. As with the total annual carbon flux, the net cumulative GHG impact is dominated by the temporary component, which comprises the majority of the total impact (Figure **8**). However, whereas the permanent component of the cumulative impact increases at a relatively constant rate over the period studied, the temporary component increases at a decreasing rate. Consequently, the proportional division between the temporary and permanent components of the cumulative impact changes over the study period. In 2008, the permanent component only comprises approximately 9% of the cumulative net GHG impact, but this increases to approximately 18% by 2050. The rate at which the cumulative impact changes over time reflects the annual impacts previously examined.

By 2050, the cumulative GHG impact of slash burning since 2008, relative to the zero burning baseline, is a carbon source of 248,211 t CO_2 -e, 372,327 t CO_2 -e, 496,421 t CO_2 -e, or 744,629 t CO_2 -e, for low, moderate, high, or very high burning scenarios, respectively (**Table 4**). The permanent component of these totals is 44,676 t CO_2 -e, 67,018 t CO_2 -e, 89,351 t CO_2 -e, or 134,027 t CO_2 -e, respectively. The temporary component of these totals is 203,536 t CO_2 -e,

 $305,309 \text{ t CO}_2\text{-}e, 407,070 \text{ t CO}_2\text{-}e, \text{ or } 610,602 \text{ t CO}_2\text{-}e, \text{ respectively. The}$ temporary component reflects the temporary storage of carbon in unburned material that has accumulated in the zero burning baseline relative to the burning scenario. This unburned debris is slowly releasing its carbon through decomposition. However, the longevity of this temporary impact spans a broad spectrum.

3.6 Long-run Impacts (2008-2250)

I ran simulations over a longer time frame (2008-2250) to explore the rate at which the cumulative temporary impacts of the 43 years (2008-2050) of slash burning examined above would slowly expire as the residual unburned slash in the zero burning baseline slowly decomposed. Put simply, the motivating question is, "how temporary are these 'temporary' impacts?" In the long-run simulations, all harvesting and burning activities cease after 2050 in all scenarios. From 2051 onwards, all scenarios experience identical disturbances and processes. Any differences are thus attributable to the differences in the levels of burning applied to each scenario during the 2008-2050 study period.

The cumulative temporary impact from burning applied during 2008-2050 decays slowly over the subsequent 200 years (2050-2250) (**Figure 9**). The cumulative temporary GHG impact is at its maximum in 2050 and then begins to decrease immediately once all harvesting and burning activity has stopped after 2050. After 2050, the cumulative temporary GHG impact decreases quickly but at a decreasing rate. By 2100 (50 years after the initial study period and the conclusion of all forest management activities), 37% of the cumulative temporary

impact that existed in 2050 still remains (the same value applies to all scenarios). By 2150, a century after the initial study period, 23% of the cumulative temporary impact in 2050 remains. By 2250, approximately 12% of the impact in 2050 still exists and the rate of decrease is very slow. However, these data do not indicate how long it will take the temporary GHG impact to completely expire (i.e. return to zero, once the DOM and soil pools have finally released all of the carbon from the original unburned debris associated with the avoided burning). However, it does appear from additional, rough calculations that it would take many centuries for this to occur.

Separating the long-run results for the high burning scenario shown in **Figure 9** into individual pools illustrates how each of the DOM and soil pools contributes to the aggregate temporary impact (**Figure 10**). I only show DOM and soil pools because the live biomass pools are identical for all the scenarios. Comparing DOM and soil pools between the burning scenarios and the zero burning baseline reveals the cumulative amount of carbon in each DOM and soil pool that has been lost from the landscape as a result of burning. However, it is also possible to conceive these relative differences within each DOM or soil pool as effectively showing the amount of carbon that has "accumulated" in the zero burning baseline (relative to burning) and how this carbon is released over time as the debris inevitably decomposes. Although it reverses the convention used throughout the rest of this study, I use this second perspective for these data because its interpretation is much more intuitive.

Carbon increases in all the DOM and soil pools relative to the burning scenario from 2008-2050 (i.e. Figure 10). However, the carbon accumulated in unburned material in the "aboveground very fast" (litter), "aboveground fast" (branches, tops, other), and "medium" (coarse woody debris) pools begins to decrease immediately once harvesting and burning are stopped after 2050. The varying rates at which carbon decreases in each of these pools reflect the differences in the decomposition rate for the type of material associated with each pool. Decomposition of litter occurs relatively guickly and thus all the carbon accumulated by 2050 in the aboveground very fast pool is released within 41 years. Decomposition of coarse woody debris occurs relatively slowly and thus it takes 200 years for almost all (>99%) of the carbon accumulated by 2050 in the medium pool to be released. Carbon in the aboveground slow pool actually continues to increase after 2050 for 10 more years before beginning to decrease, albeit at an even slower rate than for the medium pool. Carbon continues to increase in the mineral soil pool for such an extended period (>100 years) that it does not at first appear to be responding at all to the 43 years of burning and the sudden halt after 2050. I have not presented the very fast belowground and fast belowground pools because their values are identical for all the scenarios and therefore the relative differences are zero.

Understanding the patterns observed in the aboveground slow and belowground slow pools requires a closer look at the structure of the CBM-CFS3 model, which specifies how carbon moves among pools. In the CBM-CFS3, carbon released from the aboveground very fast, aboveground fast, and medium

pools is only partially released to the atmosphere (**Figure 11**). A portion of the carbon from these pools is actually transferred to the aboveground slow pool, which is then transferred very slowly to the soil pool where it will eventually be released to the atmosphere at an extremely slow rate. Kurz et al. (2009) report the transfer rates and proportions of carbon released to the atmosphere that the CBM-CFS3 applies.

The belowground slow pool continues to accumulate carbon over a long period of time (i.e. **Figure 10**), long after the period of harvesting and burning activity has stopped. This occurs because it slowly accumulates the portion of carbon from all of the more quickly decomposing pools not directly released back to the atmosphere. The belowground slow pool then releases this carbon only very slowly. The temporary component of the GHG impact of slash burning is truly temporary – all of the carbon in unburned debris that may have otherwise been released to the atmosphere immediately if burned will still ultimately be released to the atmosphere either way. However, this final equalization will only occur on a time scale of many centuries. The precise duration has not been simulated but calculations based on the magnitude of the belowground slow pool in 2250 and the decay rate specified in the CBM-CFS3 suggest that it would take many centuries for this accumulated carbon to be completely returned to the atmosphere (not shown). The permanent component of the cumulative GHG impact for each burning scenario neither increases nor decreases after 2050 the cumulative permanent impact in 2250 is the same as it was in 2050 (not shown).

3.7 Sensitivity Analyses

I performed further simulations in order to determine how sensitive the primary results are to the potential reduction of plantable space by unburned debris piles, which could reduce and/or delay regeneration (and therefore carbon sequestration) on a portion of the harvested stand. Although it appears that this impact is not an issue on this particular landscape, I still tested it because it is a potentially confounding factor in principle and an important factor in other landscapes (e.g. Luke et al., 1993). The results up to 2050 for the cumulative temporary GHG impact are relatively insensitive to the levels of regeneration delay tested (Figure 12). The permanent impacts (not shown) remain unchanged because the same amount of debris is burned in either case. Over a 43-year study period, a 50-year delay is effectively the same as a permanent delay, but even then, the difference in the cumulative GHG impact at 2050 between the 30 year and 50 year effects is negligible. The alternate scenarios tested show relatively minor absolute effects and no change to the overall pattern observed. A partial regeneration delay of 50 years on 2% of the harvested area subject to burning in the moderate burning scenario (i.e. the maximum effect tested) reduces the cumulative net GHG impact in 2050 by approximately 26,000 tons CO₂-e. By comparison, changing the overall level of burning from the moderate burning scenario to the low burning scenario reduces the cumulative net GHG impact in 2050 by approximately 124,000 tons CO₂-e.

4: DISCUSSION

Burning post-harvest debris piles in the Strathcona TSA during 2008-2050 is a net source of GHG emissions to the atmosphere for all four burning scenarios simulated, both in absolute terms and relative to the baseline simulation in which zero burning occurs. The annual GHG impact of both the permanent and temporary components are both net GHG sources in each year of the study period of 2008-2050 and therefore the cumulative impact of each component increases over the entire study period. The cumulative temporary impacts of burning during 2008-2050 slowly decline post-2050, albeit over decades to centuries. In 2050, the cumulative GHG impact of the low, medium, high, and very high burning scenarios (relative to zero burning) are 248,211 t CO_2 -e, 372,327 t CO_2 -e, 496,421 t CO_2 -e, and 744,629 t CO_2 -e, respectively.

For each scenario, the permanent component comprises 18% of the cumulative GHG impact in 2050. However, approximately 19% of the total net GHG impact is comprised of impacts that, although inherently temporary, will persist at least 100 years after 2050. But because this measure is based on 100 years since the end of the management period, not 100 years since each burning event, the value of 19% underestimates the portion of temporary impacts that would actually be deemed "permanent" according to current regulations in BC (Government of British Columbia, 2008b).

4.1 Temporary GHG Impacts

4.1.1 Distinguishing Temporary and Permanent Impacts

This research illustrates two important and independent components of the total net GHG benefits that are realized from avoided slash burning. First, the delayed release of carbon, which is a temporary benefit because eventually the same amount of carbon will be released via decomposition as would have been released immediately through combustion. Second, the avoidance of releasing more powerful GHGs than CO_2 , which is a permanent benefit because once carbon is released to the atmosphere as CO₂ the same carbon cannot be released again in another form. These temporary and permanent impacts both need to be accounted for in order to effectively assess of the overall GHG impacts of avoided slash burning or other potential mitigation actions. Some authors suggest that temporary carbon storage contributes no value towards climate mitigation efforts (e.g. Kirschbaum 2003, 2006), whereas others argue that temporary measures can provide a valuable contribution (e.g. Chomitz 1998; Dornburg and Marland 2008; Marland et al. 2001), but there is agreement that temporary and permanent impacts are unequivocally different. As my research demonstrates, treating them as equal would overestimate the overall impact of a particular action but discounting the temporary component entirely would clearly underestimate the impact over the timeframe of interest. If society is concerned with accurately assessing its potential climate mitigation success over different time frames, then both permanent and temporary impacts must be appropriately considered.

4.1.2 Key Characteristics of the Temporary Impact

The slow rate of decay for unburned debris produces two patterns observed in the temporary impact. First, the aggregate temporary storage of carbon actually increases over time when the act of avoiding burning occurs repeatedly over time and space. Avoiding burning over many years "adds" temporary carbon storage, relative to burning having occurred, to the system at a greater rate than the decay of existing temporary carbon storage from previous years of avoided burning. This pattern drives the important yet somewhat unintuitive result that the cumulative "temporary" impact of burning actually increases over the entire management period. By 2050, four decades of avoided burning for the moderate burning scenario result in an accumulation of 305,000 t CO₂-e of temporary sequestration. For the same scenario, the permanent benefit is only 67,000 t CO₂-e of non-CO₂ GHG emissions avoided by 2050. The aggregate effect on the entire landscape of avoided burning applied over many subsequent years is distinctly different from the pattern that one would observe from a single application of this treatment, where the large initial benefit of avoiding the release of GHGs will begin to decrease immediately as the unburned debris decomposes.

Second, not only has the cumulative amount of "temporary" sequestration increased by 2050, but a significant proportion of that temporary storage will also remain sequestered for many decades and even centuries. Approximately one quarter of the temporary impact (comprising 19% of the total impact) persists past 2150, 100 years after the end of the simulated management period. Of this

one quarter of the temporary impact that lasts beyond 2150, approximately half persists for at least an additional 100 years. The threshold beyond which temporary carbon storage should be considered effectively permanent is a subject of considerable debate (e.g. Dutschke, 2003; Herzog et al., 2003; Kirschbaum, 2003, 2006; Dornburg and Marland, 2008; Fearnside, 2008) that will not be resolved here. Nevertheless, this portion of "temporary" carbon sequestration that lasts for greater than 200 years after the 43 years of this management action should surely be considered as effectively permanent relative to the timescales of primary interest today. This long-lived storage reflects carbon that has eventually transferred into the soil carbon pool, which has a very slow decay rate.

4.1.3 Distinguishing among Different Types of Temporary Impacts

The results presented above demonstrate that the timescale over which the temporary components of the total GHG impact exist varies greatly. In society's assessment of the contribution of its activities to climate change, the difference between a temporary impact that expires within a few decades and one that may last centuries is an extremely relevant distinction. Given the timelines suggested as important to avoid dangerous climate change and the idea that the latter half of this century may see new advanced technologies and significant societal changes (e.g. Pacala and Socolow, 2004), there must be some temporal threshold beyond which "temporary" impacts could be considered effectively permanent with respect to our current concerns. Although one should be concerned about giving temporary and permanent impacts equal weight, the

results of the my research show that completely excluding the temporary component from further consideration substantially underestimates the GHG impact of slash burning, and conversely, the mitigation potential of avoiding it. For these reasons, it seems prudent to further distinguish different "types" of temporary impact based on their anticipated life span.

For the purposes of subdividing the temporary component into more duration-specific classifications, I chose to use 100 and 200 years after the initial study period as convenient but still informative thresholds. The BC Emission Offset Regulation states that for the purposes of quantifying potential carbon offsets, any impact that lasts longer than 100 years is considered a permanent impact (Government of British Columbia, 2008b). However, the 100-year threshold used here is not an accurate representation of this criterion because it represents 100 years after the end of the study period rather than 100 years after each incidence of burning. The present implementation therefore underestimates the proportion of the impact that the regulation would actually deem to be "permanent". The 200 year threshold is arbitrary but represents a point where 98% of the remaining temporary impact is due to the accumulation (relative to burning) of carbon in the slowly decaying DOM and soil pools, which will only release their carbon to the atmosphere over many centuries. Using these thresholds, I divide the temporary component into three subcomponents: 1) the "decadal temporary" impact that will persist from years to many decades, but less than a century; 2) the "centennial temporary" impact that will persist for at least a century but no longer than two centuries; and, 3) the "multi-centennial temporary"

impact that will persist for greater than two centuries. In this study, I measure these durations from the end of the management period rather than from the year of each activity.

I show the relative contribution of each of these classes of temporary impact to the cumulative GHG impact in 2050 of slash burning from 2008 to 2050 in **Figure 13**. The graph shows that even though the decadal temporary subcomponent constitutes the majority of the cumulative temporary GHG impact in 2050, the centennial temporary and multi-centennial temporary subcomponents still represent a substantial contribution, especially relative to the magnitude of the permanent component. Figure 14 represents the proportional contributions of the permanent component and the three temporary subcomponents to the cumulative net GHG impact in 2050. This chart illustrates that the combined impact of the centennial temporary and multi-centennial temporary subcomponents is approximately equal to the permanent component. In this particular case, this means that if one were to count any "temporary" impact that will last more than 100 years as equivalent to the permanent impact, then the reported impact of burning would effectively be double the amount reported when excluding all temporary impacts entirely. However, the specific proportions of the total temporary impact that fall within each class are sensitive to the temporal definition of each subcomponent, which may be arbitrary.

Although arbitrary, the thresholds applied illustrate the effect of distinguishing different "types" of temporary impacts that explicitly account for the actual duration of the impacts being considered. This seems particularly

important when "temporary" impacts can range from years to centuries. Alternate thresholds may be equally valid and ultimately policy makers must decide upon definitive rules about what does and does not count as permanent. The present results simply show that temporary impacts exist across a spectrum – there are no definitive boundaries between short-term and long-term temporary impacts.

4.1.4 The Relevance of Temporary Impacts that are Effectively Permanent

This project demonstrates the need to distinguish among "temporary" carbon impacts of differing longevity. Temporary impacts exist over a very large spectrum and should not all be treated equally – long-term temporary impacts deserve consideration as a type of impact distinctly different from short-term temporary impacts. My research shows that the cumulative temporary benefit of avoided burning that contributes to targets in 2050 is approximately 4.6 times the size of the contribution of the permanent component of the total impact. Even by 2100, fifty years after the simulated management period, the temporary impact.

Acknowledging this pattern means that the GHG benefit of avoided slash burning is actually much larger than would be indicated by an analysis that ignored temporary impacts. Although I do not explore alternative treatments or other potential uses of unburned slash, this observation indicates that removing unburned slash for other purposes (e.g. biomass fuel, mulch) would have a GHG cost that would not be accounted for in an assessment that discounted all temporary impacts. To treat this unburned biomass as short-lived sequestration assumed to fully release its carbon within years would be erroneous; some of the

temporarily stored carbon will endure many decades to centuries. Any activity that removed this unburned biomass would be removing some carbon storage that was effectively permanent. It is therefore critical that any proposal to remove unburned slash from the landscape includes these "temporary" impacts in their life cycle analysis of GHG impacts, especially if the biomass is being removed for bio-energy, where demonstrating quantifiable GHG benefits is commonly a major component of its justification. This research shows that any superficial assessment that simply assumes that debris is carbon-neutral because the carbon will eventually be released to the atmosphere through decomposition should really ask the question, "carbon-neutral, but over what time scale?"

4.1.5 Potential Benefits of Short-term Temporary Impacts

Even the short-term temporary impacts may be beneficial to mitigation efforts, based on the premise that there is benefit even in merely postponing emissions. As described above, I classified short-term temporary impacts that persist less than 100 years as decadal temporary impacts. Some of potential benefits of temporary carbon sequestration or delayed GHG emissions include (Chomitz, 1998; Marland et al., 2001; Dutschke, 2003; Dornburg and Marland, 2008):

- 1. it postpones climate change;
- adaptation within biotic systems may be improved with slower increases in temperature;
- 3. temporary mitigation may partially offset any initial warming pulse;
- slowing the increase in damage lowers the present value of the costs of climate change;
- delayed release of temporarily sequestered CO₂ will produce lower marginal damages;

- it buys time for additional learning;
- 7. it buys time for technological progress;
- 8. it buys time for capital turnover;
- 9. abatement costs will be lower in the future;
- 10. it saves money for larger investments;
- 11. the aggregate effect of many temporary projects may be a net benefit over time;
- 12. some temporary sinks may actually turn out to be permanent; and,
- 13. a lower emissions path today helps preserve a wider range of future options.

If major, global action towards emissions mitigation is delayed by too long then the likelihood increases that there will be interim peaks in atmospheric CO_2 and global mean temperature that would exceed critical thresholds of Earth systems, even though aggressive mitigation might still be able to achieve longterm stabilization targets (Vaughan et al., 2009). Depending on the delay period and subsequent rate of mitigation, this "transient peak" could occur as early as 2100 (Vaughan et al., 2009). Mitigation actions that reduce emissions or increase sequestration over this period may therefore be beneficial even if these effects are not ultimately permanent. The short term or decadal temporary impacts of avoided slash burning over subsequent years are immediate and the cumulative impact increases over the four-decade study period to a relatively substantial level by 2050 (for a small, regional-scale action). By 2100, roughly a fifth of the cumulative decadal temporary impact in 2050 that will be gone by 2150 (the 100 year threshold) still exists. Hypothetically, if aggregated across a multitude of other actions with similar characteristics, this type of impact might be able to contribute to a temporary stopgap measure to reduce the magnitude of any interim overshoot resulting from the delay of larger, permanent mitigation strategies needed ultimately achieve the long-term stabilization goals.

Although inherently short-lived, a portion of the decadal temporary impacts of avoided burning will at least last beyond the next likely harvest on the same land (i.e. past a rotation age of between 50-100 years). When we harvest these stands again, debris pile burning may continue to be the status quo practice (i.e. in the absence of mitigation initiatives). If so, this strategy of avoiding burning could add new decadal temporary benefits to the residual decadal temporary benefits of the previous rotation. However, estimating this effect would require modelling over multiple rotations that is beyond the scope of this project. I also did not attempt to quantify the actual benefit that the decadal temporary impacts of avoided burning might have toward climate mitigation, though such analyses appear to be worthy of further investigation. There may be conditions in which even relatively short-lived carbon sequestration or emissions reductions might actually make a positive contribution to a mitigation portfolio, although such actions should not divert resources from larger, permanent mitigation efforts.

4.2 Sensitivities and Secondary Effects

4.2.1 Sensitivity to Critical Indirect Effects

To determine comprehensively the full GHG implications of any particular management action, potential changes to all carbon stocks and flows must be included, whether they are direct or indirect consequences of the activity of interest. Of the two, the direct consequences should be more easily identifiable. The indirect component may be much more complex because it may include carbon stocks and flows of processes that might superficially appear to be entirely natural processes. The underlying principle is that an assessment

framework should account for the full impacts of an intentional management action but not for any truly unavoidable acts of nature. It is therefore critical to distinguish between truly natural processes and processes that have been modified in some indirect manner by the management action itself.

Hurteau and others provide a detailed example of this failure to recognize how the indirect effects of management may modify an otherwise natural risk profile (Hurteau et al., 2008; Hurteau and North, 2009; Wiedinmyer and Hurteau, 2010). They analyse forest management practices in the dry, fire-prone forests of the western United States. The simulations of Hurteau and others show that the practice of thinning for fuel reduction would have actually decreased the scale and severity of past wildfires and thus their corresponding GHG emissions. From the perspective of maximizing carbon storage or minimizing carbon emissions over time, it is likely thinning treatments are better than allowing fuels to accumulate in highly fire-prone areas (Daigle and Dymond, 2010). What have not yet been quantified in the scientific literature are the GHG consequences of the amount of area and frequency of repeated fuel treatments required given our limited knowledge of the future (C. Dymond, pers. comm.).

As described by Hurteau et al. (2008), the California Climate Action Registry Forest Sector Protocol considers thinning operations for the purpose of fuel treatment as a reduction in carbon storage in the forest relative to the baseline; however, if accumulated fuel results in a large wildfire with a large release of carbon to the atmosphere, this protocol simply considers the fire as an unavoidable act of nature and a new baseline is set for evaluating future

management actions. Managers therefore have a disincentive (from a GHG perspective) to conduct such fuel treatments despite the likely GHG benefits of doing so. For this particular legislation, the incentives do not align with the desired outcomes because the framework fails to make the connection between intentional management actions (i.e. thinning) and their potential effect on natural processes or disturbances (i.e. fire risk).

In the previous example, the direct management intervention (i.e. thinning as a fuels treatment) is beneficial in the previous example, but in other cases, the intervention of interest might ultimately have a detrimental effect (e.g. fire suppression). Furthermore, even the specific relationship observed in these studies may not necessarily apply elsewhere. For example, research in the US Pacific Northwest found that where thinning was applied to forests in the west Cascades and Coast Range ecosystems, carbon storage over time was less than when thinning was not applied (Mitchell et al., 2009). However, the critical concept is that direct management interventions can indirectly modify on-going natural processes, and the analytical framework used for assessing the GHG impacts of management actions should incorporate these dynamics.

This concept manifests itself in my research insofar as leaving unburned slash may alter the dynamics of future growth or fire risk. The natural regeneration of a stand (or natural growth following planting) and the risk of natural wildfires cannot simply be excluded from the analysis as "natural" processes if their attributes have been indirectly modified by the increased presence of unburned debris piles on the landscape, which is the direct physical

effect of the management action. These consequences should be considered in addition to the direct GHG impacts of avoided burning (i.e. the delayed release of carbon and the avoidance of CH_4 and N_2O).

In this project, I have acknowledged these potential indirect effects but I have only examined the impact on regeneration quantitatively. It appears that the potential regeneration consequences of leaving unburned debris piles are insignificant in this particular study area. However, I have only addressed the potential impact of avoided burning on future fire risk qualitatively in this project. This omission means that this assessment of the GHG implications of the avoided burning of debris piles falls short of a comprehensive analysis of the full spectrum of potential impacts over time. However, although a mix of natural disturbance regimes exist over the landscape, the fire risk across the study region is generally low (e.g. Wong et al., 2004). Although much of the landscape has a very low incidence of fire, a substantial Douglas-fir component in any particular stand provides evidence of a fire history, even if only low frequency (K. Lertzman, pers. comm.). Because the study landscape as a whole has a relatively low incidence of fire (e.g. Wong et al., 2004), I do not expect the implications of the exclusion I describe above to be critical, nor should they affect the key patterns I have reported concerning permanent and temporary GHG impacts. In Alberta, drier conditions and more frequent lightning-initiated fires make residual slash a more substantial fire hazard than for coastal BC; however, the number of fires involving slash in Alberta decreased over the past several

decades and the area burned due to slash fires decreased markedly in the 1990s, despite increases in total wildfires (Baxter, 2002).

4.2.2 Secondary Effects of Burning of Post-harvest Debris

Although carbon is the focus of this work, it is by no means the only objective of forest managers – it is one of many and neither replaces nor supersedes other objectives. Avoided burning may have other important consequences that I have not assessed in the current study. Retaining unburned debris offers ecological benefits (Marcot 2002; Bunnell and Houde, 2010). Reducing smoke emissions from burning provides the aesthetic and health benefits of improved air quality (Hardy et al., 2001; Sandberg et al., 2002). However, I did not explore the magnitude of these types of benefits as part of my research. The secondary costs of leaving debris piles unburned include a potential impediment to regeneration, which did not appear to be a concern in this case-study, and a potential increase in future fire hazard, which could not be assessed but is likely low in this case-study. Avoiding the burning of debris piles reduces expenses on the direct costs of burning, but the net cost would depend on the specific alternate actions taken. The role of mangers is to weigh these benefits and costs as they strive to balance a whole suite of objectives that include ecological, economic, social, and climate outcomes.

4.3 Extensions and Limitations

4.3.1 Comparison with Other Regional GHG Emissions

I compared selected results of this research to other regionally relevant GHG impacts to provide a frame of reference for assessing my results (Table 5). In 2050, the total cumulative GHG impact that will persist at least 100 years after the initial study period is 91,075 tons CO₂-e for the low burning scenario and 182,147 tons CO_2 -e for the high burning scenario. I calculated these values as the sum of the permanent, multi-centennial temporary and centennial temporary cumulative impacts. The average GHG impact of ground-based forestry operations in western Canada is approximately 20,463 g CO₂-e per cubic metre harvested (20,418 g CO₂-e/m³ when adjusted for updated GWP coefficients) (Sambo, 2002). Based on the cumulative harvest of 37.26 million m³, the cumulative direct GHG impact of forestry operations within the Strathcona TSA from 2008-2050, as simulated in this study, would be approximately 761,000 t CO₂-e. The impacts of the low and high burning scenarios as described above thus represent 12% and 24% of the GHG impact of the total direct emissions from forestry operations over the same period. However, this calculation only provides a rough estimate because the GHG impact factor used applies to all of western Canada and assumes that all operations are ground-based (Sambo, 2002).

The 2007 Community Energy and Emissions Inventory reports provide a snapshot of the regional GHG budget against which to compare the present results (BC Ministry of Environment, 2010). The Comox and Strathcona Regional

Districts together cover an area very similar to the Strathcona TSA, providing an appropriate comparison. **Table 5** shows the equivalent impacts of the low and high burning scenarios, as described above, in terms of vehicles and residential energy use within the region. For example, the GHG impact of the low burning scenario is equivalent to an additional 636 small passenger cars (3.3% of the regional total) on the road from 2008-2050, or 1.9% of residential energy use over the same period. These comparisons illustrate that the cumulative impact of debris pile burning makes a non-trivial contribution to the regional GHG budget; consequently, avoiding such burning could make a noticeable contribution to a regional portfolio of strategies to mitigate climate change.

4.3.2 Potential for Avoided Burning as a Carbon Offset

A logical extension of this research would be to evaluate the potential for avoided slash burning to qualify as a carbon offset project. The focus of my research has only been to quantify the GHG impacts of slash pile burning and the mitigation potential of avoiding this activity across the landscape over time, but not to evaluate potential carbon offset credits from any individual action. However, this is a relevant issue and at first pass, it appears that projects reducing debris pile burning might satisfy some of the general criteria commonly used for assessing carbon offset projects. These criteria include confirmation that gains from the potential offset project are real and verifiable, permanent, additional, and will not be subject to leakage (Cathcart, 2000; Wayburn et al., 2007). The gains of avoiding debris pile burning can be verified through simulation modelling or field measurements. My research identifies the

permanent component of the GHG impact, as well as the long-lived temporary components that regulators might consider as equivalent to permanent (e.g. Government of British Columbia, 2008b). Determining the additionality of any project to reduce debris pile burning would require a much more accurate forward-looking business-as-usual baseline, to verify that credit is truly additional and not awarded where burning would have been avoided for other reasons (i.e. changing practices, smoke reduction goals, or coarse woody debris management). Leakage over space will not be a concern because reduced debris pile burning in one area will not drive an increase in intentional burning elsewhere. However, accurately assessing both leakage over time and permanence would require explicit analysis of the extent to which additional unburned piles may increase the risk of wildfire and future GHG releases that could offset the estimated upfront gains.

4.3.3 Illustration of Broader Principles about Forests

The results from this research may also offer some insight into or confirmation of broader principles of forest ecology and forest management in general. Although a detailed exploration of this idea is beyond the current scope, a superficial examination reveals an overall pattern of particular interest. I examined the impacts of a relatively moderate operational change (burning versus not burning on a small fraction of the harvested landscape), yet these impacts persist over a very long period. In fact, a substantial portion of the impacts last beyond the expected timing of the next harvest and presumably these impacts could compound if managers maintained a similar strategy over

multiple rotations. Consequently, this research demonstrates a case where there would be substantial, long lasting impacts from relatively non-intensive management activity. This overall pattern emphasizes that forest landscapes may indeed have long "memories".

Additionally, it is important to remember that the DOM modelled in this research is not just carbon but serves many other important ecological roles, such as habitat, food, and nutrients (e.g. Harmon et al., 1986; Hagan and Grove, 1999). The focus of my work is decidedly on the carbon and GHG implications of debris pile burning, but the results simultaneously demonstrate an effect on the amount and longevity of DOM across the landscape (e.g. **Figures 9** and **10**), which is an integral component of the entire ecological system (e.g. Harmon et al., 1986; Caza, 1993; Hagan and Grove, 1999; Marcot, 2002; Bunnell and Houde, 2010). Although I have not explored such effects in this project, these observations at least suggest that the decision to perform or avoid the burning of debris piles will also have ecological consequences.

4.3.4 Comparability to Actual Levels of Slash Pile Burning

The burning scenarios used to characterize the current area to which piling and burning post-harvest debris is applied are simplistic representations of a very complex and dynamic reality. Each scenario uses rates of burning stratified only by forest age (old-/second-growth), but otherwise applied uniformly across the landscape and over time. In each year simulated, the area selected for pile burning is a cross-section of all harvested stands rather than targeting specific stands with particular attributes. In reality, the extent to which the burning

of debris piles occurs is highly variable both spatially and temporally. The volume of debris piled and the proportion that will ultimately be burned will vary by stand and year based on many factors including: utilization levels (in turn influenced by species composition and age, site quality, timber quality, and current timber and pulp market conditions); proximity of cut-blocks to populations; local terrain; harvesting systems used; bucking methods employed; micro-climatic conditions; current regulations; current economic circumstances (for both markets and operators); and sometimes even the personal preferences of operators (Feller 1982; J. Andres, pers. comm.; B. McKerricher, pers. comm.; D. Tanner, pers. comm.). However, data on the precise extent of debris pile burning done were not available. Even with precise data on current levels of burning, it would still not be possible to know how the factors influencing the decision to burn will change over time. Instead, I designed the scenarios used to encompass the range of potential variation to achieve a reasonable representation of the average cumulative impact across the landscape over time rather than capture annual, stand-level variability.

4.3.5 Potential Effects of Climate Change

This research does not account for any potential effects of actual changes in climate on carbon dynamics over the study period. Researchers have already been observing significant impacts of climate change on Canada's forests and they anticipate these impacts to be even more significant in the future (Lemprière et al., 2008; Williamson et al., 2009). Climate change may affect many different aspects of forest dynamics; however, I will only mention those impacts that may

potentially influence the results of this research. The impacts of climate change on decomposition rates, wildfire risk, insect activity, and forest productivity could each potentially modify the present results by altering processes associated with additional unburned debris left on the landscape.

Temperature and moisture affect decomposition rates for woody debris, the forest floor and soil (Gholz et al., 2000). The CBM-CFS3 does not yet integrate precipitation and therefore temperature is the only climatic variable driving decay rates (Kull et al., 2007). By the end of the century, mean annual temperature is forecast to increase 2.8-3.7°C within the Pacific Forest Region (PFR), and annual precipitation is forecast to increase 65-107 mm (Lemprière et al., 2008). However, moisture availability is forecast to increase only slightly, by 0.3-0.8% (Lemprière et al., 2008). These predicted changes are based on average values modelled for 2071-2100, compare against average values for 1961-1990. If decomposition rates increase over the study period due to increasing temperature, the longevity of the temporary component of net GHG benefits could be reduced. Over the same period, the area affected by fire within the PFR is forecast to increase, with a low increase for the near term (2011-2040) and a high increase for the long term (2071-2100) (Lemprière et al., 2008). Although I did not model the impact that leaving additional unburned piles on the landscape could have on fire risk, I have discussed its importance. If the background fire risk increases substantially over the study period, then the importance of this factor and the magnitude of the potential consequences may also increase accordingly.

Within the PFR, climate change is forecast to result in a moderate increase in biotic activity in the near/medium term, with uncertain effects in the long term (Lemprière et al. 2008). However, the only situation that could potentially alter the present results is an insect (or pathogen) that is affected by changes in both climate and the quantity of dead wood available (i.e. the sole physical difference between the burning and non-burning simulations). As a hypothetical example, if an insect that benefited from these factors causes additional damage that modifies the carbon dynamics of other stands (e.g. tree mortality or reduced growth), part of that carbon cost might be attributable to the additional piles of unburned debris and therefore reduce the relative benefit of avoided slash burning over time. Increases in productivity due to climate change can only influence the current results if there are relative differences in the growing stock between burning scenarios and the non-burning baseline. However, as discussed earlier, the presence of additional unburned piles is not expected to affect the stocking of the new stand and therefore there would be no relative differences in growing stock. Regardless, average forest productivity in the PFR is not expected to change over this century, although there may be variation among individual species (Lemprière et al., 2008).

The results for 2050 are expected to have low to moderate sensitivity to climate change because of the relatively short period. The post-2050 results up to 2250 are expected to be much more sensitive to climate change. The extent of climate change over the next 250 years and its impacts on various ecological factors are extremely uncertain. Trofymow et al. (2008) suggest that the CBM-

CFS3 may be of limited use for simulating long-term time frames in the presence of climate change. However, because the present study examines relative differences between burning scenarios and a baseline simulation with no burning, the only climate change factors of immediate concern are impacts of decomposition rates, increased wildfire, and possibly some very specific types of biotic activity.

4.3.6 Applicability of Results beyond this Study

Although my research relates only to the burning of debris to remove accumulated "waste", both to prepare the site for regeneration and/or the abate the potentially increased fire risk, the intentional use of fire is also a common management tool in a wide variety of other settings. For example, some other purposes for which managers may use prescribed burning include, controlling invasive weeds (DiTomaso et al, 2006) or pathogens (Holzmueller et al., 2009), restoring and maintaining fire-dependent ecosystems (Switzer, 2011), preparing degraded ecosystems for replanting (Stanley et al., 2011), improving rangeland forage for grazing (Augustine et al., 2010), clearing forest for plantations (Simorangkir, 2007), or reducing fuel loads to mitigate the risk of high intensity wildfires (Vaillant et al., 2009), potentially with the explicit objective of reducing forest carbon emissions over time (Wiedinmyer and Hurteau, 2010). Additionally, managers have commonly used prescribed burning across BC and Canada for silvicultural purposes including site preparation, vegetation management, stand conversion, and stand rehabilitation, for the enhancement of wildlife habitat, and for the control of insects (Feller, 1982; Weber and Taylor, 1992).

The quantitative results of my research cannot be directly extrapolated to other regions or alternative uses of prescribed burning because the data, scenarios and parameterization of the CBM-CFS3 are specific to the Strathcona TSA. Other regions may consist of entirely different forest types and ecological processes. The scenarios I simulated would require modification in order to represent appropriately the intended purpose of prescribed burning and regional practices in alternate settings. The GHG impact of slash pile burning could be much larger in other landscapes where managers apply this treatment to a larger proportion of the harvested area, and differences in the volume of slash per area harvested or decomposition rates might further influence this difference. Additionally, the trade-offs embodied in the choice between status quo burning practices and alternative scenarios may be quite different in other situations. In fire-prone landscapes, the increased risk of wildfire associated with leaving unburned debris after harvest will likely be a much more critical factor. In such circumstances, a structured decision analysis would be beneficial to determine the level of burning at which reduced GHG emissions from burning less debris might outweigh the increased risk of large releases of GHG emissions from additional wildfires that would not have otherwise occurred. In other landscapes, the physical footprint of slash piles may actually reduce or delay regeneration of the subsequent stand (e.g. Luke et al., 1993). I deemed this particular trade-off not to be relevant in the current study area but evidently this conclusion does not hold everywhere. Conducting similar research to the present project in other regions would improve our understanding of how the GHG impacts of burning

debris piles and the relative importance of these different factors vary across landscapes.

Even if the quantitative results of this study cannot be directly extrapolated to other areas, there are several qualitative conclusions that may be extendable to other situations, or at least warrant explicit consideration. First, it is both possible and informative to distinguish between the temporary and permanent GHG impacts of alternative actions. Second, the results of this approach may not correspond with simplistic *a priori* assumptions about those temporary and permanent impacts (e.g. that only permanent impacts should be considered and temporary impacts are not important or not relevant). Finally, such assumptions about temporary and permanent impacts of a particular action. These observations may apply to other potential mitigation actions that produce a mix of permanent and temporary GHG impacts.

4.3.7 Data and Model Limitations

Some of the known limitations of my research relate to data processing, the availability of precise baseline data, specific characteristics of the CBM-CFS3, and particular attributes of the study area. I used aggregate stand types and corresponding area-weighted aggregate growth curves to reduce computing complexity. However, an informal exploration revealed that large variation sometimes exists among the constituent growth curves of a single aggregate growth curve even though the stands have very similar stand composition (same leading and second species, with coverage of each particular species within 5%)

and site quality (SI values within the same 2 unit interval). However, the thousands of unique raw growth curves may give a somewhat exaggerated sense of precision since they are all derived algorithmically from a much smaller set of core growth curves used by the Ministry of Forests (C. Dymond, pers. comm.). The result is distinct growth curves for stands that differ by any margin at all, even if the difference is smaller than the likely sampling error of the attributes. For example, stands that only differ by 1% coverage in their fifth most dominant species have unique growth curves. Nevertheless, the present results should be evaluated against results using the raw growth curves to confirm whether the difference is significant.

The lack of readily available data on the extent to which piling and burning currently occurs within the Strathcona TSA made it impossible to establish a definitively accurate business-as-usual scenario. The extent of future burning is unknowable, but accurate knowledge of current and recent levels would provide a solid foundation for forecasting the business-as-usual trajectory. Instead, I performed the present analyses on a range of potential burning levels based on the estimates of experienced professionals, with the goal of encompassing a realistic range of variation.

There are particular aspects of the CBM-CFS3 that could be improved to more accurately characterize the volume, orientation and actual burning of postharvest debris. The volume of debris left in each stand after harvest is calculated based on a proportional utilization factor developed from provincial averages. The implicit assumption is that this value is a reasonable approximation of actual

utilization levels when applied to a large landscape, even though it may under-/overestimate the residual slash volume in individual stands. The Canadian Forest Service's Carbon Accounting Team is currently investigating the effect of different utilization levels across Canada and developing utilization parameters with greater regional specificity (C. Dymond, pers. comm.).

The present project specifies that unburned debris is left in piles; however, the CBM-CFS3 simulates decomposition processes based on the assumption that debris is left distributed across the setting. This difference in debris orientation means that the present study likely underestimates the temporary GHG benefit of avoided debris burning because unburned debris will actually decompose more slowly in piles than when distributed because it is drier when elevated off the forest floor (e.g. Laiho and Prescott, 2004). The disturbance matrix used in the CBM-CFS3 to represent slash pile burning when piles was originally designed as a hybrid between pile and broadcast burning that could be applied to large landscapes across which both practices were being applied, and therefore it does not entirely differentiate a pile burn from a broadcast burn. Consequently, this disturbance matrix may actually overestimate the amount of soil and forest floor burned and underestimate the amount of coarse woody debris burned (C. Dymond, pers. comm.).

The emissions factors (EF) used in the CBM-CFS3 to determine the proportion of emissions from burning released as different GHGs are based on research from boreal forests (Cofer et al., 1998; Kasischke and Bruhwiler, 2002; Kurz et al., 2009). However, the EFs used are within the range of similar

estimates for temperate forests (US EPA, 1995), extra-tropical forests (Andreae and Metlet, 2001), and wildfires and burning of cleared forests globally (IPCC, 2003). However, for CH_4 in particular, the estimated EFs cover a wide range (0.42-1.50% of carbon released as CH₄), varying especially with assumptions about burning conditions. The CH₄ EF for the smouldering phase of burning can be 2-4 times as high as that of the flaming phase, and slash burning usually involves more smouldering than wildfires (Cofer et al., 1998; Kasischke and Bruhwiler, 2002; W. Kurz, pers. comm.). In the present research, approximately two thirds of the permanent GHG impact that I calculated is due to the CH₄ component of the combustion emissions. The only two GHGs in the combustion emissions that contribute to this permanent impact are CH_4 and N_2O because, as per the CBM-CFS3 foundation paper (Kurz et al., 2009), I assume that CO quickly converts to CO₂. When only considering these two components of the combustion emissions, approximately 96% (by mass) is CH_4 and only 4% is N₂O, but the GWP of N_2O is substantially higher than the GWP of CH_4 (**Table 3**). The calculation of the permanent impact should therefore be relatively sensitive to any changes in the assumption regarding the amount of CH₄ released during the combustion of debris. Adjusting the 1.0% CH₄ EF used in the CBM-CFS3 by 0.5% in either direction (within the range of values from the literature) would represent a 50% increase or decrease in the amount of CH₄ actually released during combustion and would likely change the permanent GHG impact that I calculated substantially.
5: CONCLUSION

Avoiding the burning of post-harvest debris piles throughout the THLB of the Strathcona TSA during 2008 to 2050 could contribute to regional climate mitigation. Further analyses are required to precisely quantify the GHG impacts of this strategy when applied to specific stands or management units.

This project demonstrates the value in utilizing small, operational-scale strategies such as the avoidance or reduction of slash pile burning. This strategy does not require new or untested methods, advanced technology or complex institutions, and should therefore be readily implementable. The GHG impacts are immediate – there are no delays in the effect or upfront GHG costs. This strategy has only a stand-level effect from its direct application, but the cumulative response across the THLB produces a more substantial landscapelevel effect. Beyond its GHG implications, this tactic may also have other ecological, social and economic benefits. I have shown that a relatively basic management, action applied operationally at the stand-level, can have immediate and lasting GHG impacts that have the potential to make a noticeable contribution to a regional mitigation portfolio when repeated across the landscape.

A common but somewhat cursory interpretation of the impact of slash burning is that the benefit of avoiding the large immediate release of carbon to the atmosphere is short-lived because, had it not been burned, the debris would

eventually release the same amount of carbon through decomposition and the net GHG benefit must therefore be zero. This interpretation is incorrect. The research presented here shows that such a simple explanation does not account for two important GHG benefits of avoided slash burning. First, while it is true that the delayed release of carbon is inherently a temporary benefit, a significant proportion of it persists many decades and even centuries. The duration of these temporary impacts is important – short-term temporary benefits that last only years and long-term temporary benefits that last centuries should not be treated as equivalent outcomes. Second, burning debris releases both a small fraction of the carbon as CH₄ and the additional non-carbon GHG N₂O, both of which are more powerful GHGs than carbon dioxide. Even though the same amount of carbon will eventually be released to the atmosphere either way, the climate impact of burning debris will be greater than allowing it to decompose, and this difference is a permanent impact. The quantity, form and timing of carbon released to the atmosphere are all critical in assessing the net climate impact of human activities.

This work illustrates that it is both possible and instructive to distinguish between the permanent and non-permanent components of the total GHG impact of a potential mitigation strategy. Any permanent avoidance of GHG emissions or sequestration of carbon is inarguably beneficial from a mitigation perspective, but the value of non-permanent GHG impacts has been a more contentious issue. When aggregated across the landscape, the temporary benefits of the delayed release of carbon in the present example continue to increase over the entire

study period, demonstrating that a complete exclusion of all temporary benefits would understate the total GHG impact of this strategy. Even though the bulk of the carbon in temporary storage in 2050 is subsequently released to the atmosphere through decomposition over the following 100 years, a substantial portion in temporary storage pools persists even longer, suggesting that distinct types of temporary impact should be differentiated based on their longevity. From the perspective of climate change mitigation, delaying the release of carbon for years is not equivalent to delaying the release of carbon for centuries. The present analyses show that some of this temporary carbon storage lasts long enough to become effectively permanent with respect to society's current priorities regarding climate change. If we treat this quasi-permanent carbon stock as a permanent impact then it effectively increases the permanent GHG benefits of avoiding slash pile burning but also increases the permanent GHG benefits of leaving that unburned material in situ. Furthermore, although I only performed these simulations over a single rotation, a large proportion of the temporary carbon storage still exists when the following rotation would likely occur.

Beyond the GHG implications, the current results may even demonstrate broader principles within forest management. Compared with more aggressive management tools such as intensive silviculture or large-scale reduction of harvest, avoiding the burning of slash piles on the small proportion of the landscape over which managers currently practice such burning would have a relatively moderate impact. Yet the consequences of this action extend over a very long period and may even compound over multiple rotations – forest

landscapes can have long memories. Furthermore, the "waste" debris retained when avoiding burning is not just carbon. The DOM left on the landscape has physical structure, organic content and water retention properties that serve important ecological functions. As this material decomposes over time and returns most of its carbon to the atmosphere and some of its carbon to the soil (which eventually returns to the atmosphere), it slowly returns other important nutrients to the ecosystem as well. Dead organic material retained on the landscape is not wasted.

Society is increasingly recognizing that climate change is occurring and will be one of the most critical issues facing humanity over the next century. Although climate change is fundamentally a fossil fuel problem, forest management activities can still make a significant contribution to mitigation portfolios, because forest managers are responsible for managing the largest of all terrestrial carbon stocks (Kurz, 2007). Avoiding the burning of post-harvest debris piles in the Strathcona TSA is one potential strategy, shown in this research to make a positive contribution at a regional scale to climate mitigation targets in 2050 and beyond.

Pacala and Socolow (2004) argue that society could solve the carbon and climate problem of the next 50 years by using a portfolio of stabilization wedges, in which each wedge represents a set of technologies or approaches to reduce carbon emissions that are currently available and industrially feasible. Forest management represents one potential wedge in the portfolio (Pacala and Socolow, 2004). Nested within that mitigation wedge is a multitude of potential

climate mitigation strategies within the forest sector at the global scale, the national scale, and all the way down to the local scale. On the one hand, the strategy of avoiding debris burning in the Strathcona TSA is just one action within all forest management options to increase carbon sequestration and reduce GHG emissions at the scale of the TSA, which is only one part of the Coast Forest Region, which is only one portion of BC, which is only one piece of the Canadian landscape, which only represents a fraction of the potential global contribution of forest management to climate mitigation, which will at most provide only one of the 10-20 global "stabilization wedges" necessary to reduce emissions by 2050 to a level where society at least maintains a chance of avoiding catastrophic climate change by the end of this century. On the other hand, it does have the potential to be one practical component of the complex solution required.

REFERENCES

- Allen, C.D., Falk, D.A., Hoffman, M., Klingel, J., Morgan, P., Savage, M., Schulke, T., Stacey, P., Suckling, K., and Swetnam, T.W. 2002. Ecological restoration of southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems: a broad perspective. Ecological Applications 12(5):1418–1433.
- Andreae, M.O. 1991. Biomass Burning: Its History, Use, and Distribution and Its Impact on Environmental Quality and Global Climate. In Global Biomass Burning: Atmospheric, Climatic, and Biospheric Implications. Edited by J.S. Levine, MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Andreae, M.O., and Metlet, P. 2001. Emission of trace gases and aerosols from biomass burning. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15(4):955-966.
- Apps, M.J., Kurz, W.A., Beukema, S.J., and Bhatti, J.S. 1999. Carbon budget of the Canadian forest product sector. Environmental Science and Policy 2:25-41.
- Augustine, D.J., Derner, J.D., and Milchunas, D.G. 2010. Prescribed Fire, Grazing, and Herbaceous Plant Production in Shortgrass Steppe. Rangeland Ecology and Management 63(3):317-323.
- Baskent, E.Z., and Keles, S. 2008. Developing Alternative Forest Management Planning Strategies Incorporating Timber, Water and Carbon Values: An Examination of their Interactions. Environmental Modeling and Assessment In Press.
- Baxter, G. 2002. Analysis of the Occurrence and Cause of Fires in Slash Fuels in Alberta for the Period 1961-2000. Wildland Fire Operations Research Centre, Forest Engineering Research Institute of Canada. Internal Report IR-2002-06-13. 20 pp.
- Baxter, G. and Proteau, E. 2008. Burning Debris and Managing Smoke along Eastern Vancouver Island. LINK. 9(3):19.
- BC Ministry of Environment. 2010. Community Energy and Emissions Inventory Reports. BC Ministry of Environment, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/cas/mitigation/ceei/reports.html [accessed July 6 2010].

- BC Ministry of Forests and Range. 2004. Strathcona Timber Supply Area Analysis Report. Forest Analysis Branch, BC Ministry of Forests and Range, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hts/tsa/tsa37/tsr3/analysis.pdf [accessed May 15 2009].
- BC Ministry of Forests and Range. 2007. Coastal Forest Action Plan. Government of British Columbia, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/mof/coastalplan/cap07.pdf [accessed May 15 2009].
- BC Ministry of Forests and Range. 2009. Annual Reports. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/mof/annualreports.htm [accessed July 23 2009].
- BC Ministry of Forests, Mines and Lands. 2010. The State of British Columbia's Forests, 3rd ed. Forest Practices and Investment Branch, Victoria, B.C. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfp/sof/index.htm#2010_report [accessed August 14 2011].
- BC Ministry of Natural Resource Operations. 2010. Central and North Coast EBM Implementation. BC Ministry of Natural Resource Operations, Victoria, BC. Available from http://ilmbwww.gov.bc.ca/slrp/lrmp/nanaimo/central_north_coast/index.htm I [accessed December 30 2010].
- BC Statistics. 2009a. Population Estimates: Municipalities, Regional Districts and Development Regions. Government of British Columbia, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/pop/pop/mun/SubProvincialEstimates_ Current.xls [accessed June 2 2010].
- BC Statistics. 2009b. Regional District 25 Comox-Strathcona Statistical Profile. Government of British Columbia, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/data/sep/rd/Rd_25.pdf [accessed June 2 2010]
- Beese, W.J., Blackwell, B.A., Green, R.N., and Hawkes, B.C. 2006. Prescribed burning impacts on some coastal British Columbia ecosystems. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, British Columbia. Information Report BC-X-403. 36 pp.
- Bengston, D.N. 1994. Changing Forest Values and Ecosystem Management. Society and Natural Resources 7:515-533.
- Bettinger, P. and Chung, W. 2004. The key literature of, and trends in, forestlevel management planning in North America, 1950-2001. International Forestry Review 6(1):40-50.

- Binkley, C.S., Brand, D., Harkin, Z., Bull, G., Ravindranath, N.H., Obersteiner, M., Nilsson, S., Yamagata, Y., and Krott, M. 2002. Carbon sink by the forest sector-options and needs for implementation. Forest Policy and Economics 4(1):65-77.
- Black, T.A., Jassal, R.S., and Fredeen, A.L. 2008. Carbon Sequestration in British Columbia's Forests and Management Options. Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions. Forestry White Paper.
- Bunnell, F.L. and Houde, I. 2010. Down wood and biodiversity implications to forest practices. Environmental Reviews 18:397–421.
- Burton, G.D. 1992. Alternatives to Prescribed Burning. Ministry of Forests, Province of British Columbia.
- BVLD AMS. 2006. Chapter 6: Forest Harvest Debris Burning. In Community Action Plan for Clean Air: A Five-year Strategy. Edited by Bulkley Valley -Lakes District Airshed Management Society, Smithers, BC.
- Cathcart, J.F. 2000. Carbon sequestration A working example in Oregon. Journal of Forestry 98(9):32-37.
- Caza, C.L. 1993. Woody Debris in the Forests of British Columbia: A Review of the Literature and Current Research. Ministry of Forests, Province of British Columbia. 125 pp. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/docs/mr/Lmr/Lmr078.pdf [accessed August 14 2011].
- Chomitz, K.M. 1998. The Permanence and Duration Issue in Carbon Offsets based on Sequestration. Development Research Group, World Bank.
- Cofer, W.R., Winstead, E.L., Stocks, B.J., Goldammer, J.G., and Cahoon, D.R. 1998. Crown fire emissions of CO₂, CO, H₂, CO₄, and TNMHC from a dense jack pine boreal forest fire. Geophysical Research Letters 25:3919-3922.
- Colombo, S.J., Parker, W.C., Luckai, N., Dang, Q., and Cai, T. 2005. The effect of forest management on carbon storage in Ontario's forests. Climate Change Research Report CCRR-03.
- Core, J.E. 2001. Chapter 3.2: Visibility. In Smoke Management Guide for Prescribed and Wildland Fire. Edited by Hardy, C.C., Ottmar, R.D., Peterson, J.L., Core, J.E., and Seamon, P. National Wildfire Coordinating Group, National Interagency Fire Center, Boise, Idaho. p. 35-39.
- Core, J.E. and Peterson, J.L. 2001. Chapter 3.1: Public Health and Exposure to Smoke. In Smoke Management Guide for Prescribed and Wildland Fire. Edited by Hardy, C.C., Ottmar, R.D., Peterson, J.L., Core, J.E., and Seamon, P. National Wildfire Coordinating Group, National Interagency Fire Center, Boise, Idaho. p. 27-33.

- Covington, W.W., Fulé, P.Z., Moore, M.M., Hart, S.C., Kolb, T.E., Mast, J.N., Sackett, S.S., and Wagner, M.R. 1997. Restoration of ecosystem health in southwestern ponderosa pine forests. Journal of Forestry 95(4):23–29.
- Daigle, P.W. and C.C. Dymond. 2010. The carbon conundrum fire and fuel management in fire-prone forests. B.C. Ministry of Forests and Range, Forest Science Program, Victoria, B.C. Extension Note 97. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/En/En97.htm [accessed August 18 2011].
- DiTomaso, J.M., Brooks, M.I., Allen, E.B., Minnich, R., Rice, P.M., and Kyser, G.B. 2006. Control of Invasive Weeds with Prescribed Burning. Weed Technology. 20:535-548.
- Dixon, R.K., Brown, S., Houghton, R.A., Solomon, A.M., Trexler, M.C., and Wisniewski, J. 1994. Carbon Pools and Flux of Global Forest Ecosystems. Science 263(5144):185-190.
- Dixon, R.K., and Turner, D.P. 1991. The Global Carbon-Cycle and Climate Change - Responses and Feedbacks from Belowground Systems. Environmental Pollution 73(3-4):245-262.
- Dornburg, V., and Marland, G. 2008. Temporary storage of carbon in the biosphere does have value for climate change mitigation: a response to the paper by Miko Kirschbaum. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 13:211-217.
- Dutschke, M. 2003. Fractions of Permanence Squaring the Cycle of Sink Carbon Accounting. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 7:381-402.
- Dymond, C.C. *In prep.* Forest carbon in North American: Storage and emissions from British Columbia's harvest, 1965-2065. Manuscript in preparation, to be submitted in 2012.
- Dymond, C.C., and Spittlehouse, D.L. 2009. Forests in a Carbon-constrained World. BC Ministry of Forests and Range, Forest Science Program. Extension Note 92.
- Elman, E., and Peterson, D.L. 2005. Effects of post-harvest treatments on highelevation forests in the North Cascade Range, Washington. BC Journal of Ecosystems and Management 6(1):33-50.
- Fearnside, P. 2008. On the value of temporary carbon: a comment on Kirschbaum. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 13:207-210.

- Feller, M.C. 1982. The Ecological Effects of Slash Burning with Particular Reference to British Columbia: A Literature Review. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC. 69 pp. Available from http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/Mr/Lmr/Lmr013.pdf [accessed August 14 2011].
- Feller, M.C. 1983. Impacts of prescribed fire (slashburning) on forest productivity, soil erosion, and water quality on the coast. In Prescribed Fire - Forest Soils Symposium Proceedings. Edited by R.L. Trowbridge, and A.M. Macadam. BC Ministry of Forests.
- FPB (Forest Practices Board). 2008. Fire Hazard Assessment and Abatement: Special Investigation. Forest Practices Board, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.fpb.gov.bc.ca/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&ItemID=3 704 [accessed August 14 2011].
- FPInnovations. 2009. Woody Debris Management: A Guide to Fuel Hazard Abatement and Smoke Reduction. FPInnovations, FERIC Division, Woody Debris Management Program.
- G8. 2008. G8 Hokkaido Toyako Summit Leaders Declaration. In G8 Hokkaido Toyako Summit, Hokkaido Toyako, Japan. Available from http://www.mofa.go.jp/policy/economy/summit/2008/doc/doc080714__en.h tml [accessed July 6 2010].
- Gaboury, S., Boucher, J.-F., Villeneuve, C., Lord, D., and Gagnon, R. 2009. Estimating the net carbon balance of boreal open woodland afforestation: A case-study in Quebec's closed-crown boreal forest. Forest Ecology and Management 257:483-494.
- Gholz, H.L., Wedin, D.A., Smitherman, S.M., Harmon, M.E., and Parton, W.J. 2000. Long-term dynamics of pine and hardwood litter in contrasting environments: toward a global model of decomposition. Global Change Biology 6:751-765.
- Government of British Columbia. 2002. Forest and Range Practices Act [SBC 2002] Chapter 69. Assented to November 21, 2002. Government of British Columbia. Queen's Printer, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/document/ID/freeside/00_0 2069_01 [accessed August 14 2011].
- Government of British Columbia. 2004. Wildfire Act [SBC 2004] Chapter 31. Assented to April 29, 2004. Government of British Columbia. Queen's Printer, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/document/ID/freeside/00_0 4031_01 [accessed August 14 2011].

- Government of British Columbia. 2005. Wildfire Act: Wildfire Regulation. B.C. Reg. 38/2005. Deposited February 11, 2005. Government of British Columbia. Queen's Printer, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/document/ID/freeside/11_3 8_2005 [accessed August 14 2011].
- Government of British Columbia. 2008a. British Columbia's Climate Action Plan. Government of British Columbia, Victoria, BC. Available from http://www.livesmartbc.ca/attachments/climateaction_plan_web.pdf [accessed March 9 2009].

Government of British Columbia. 2008b. Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets Act: Emission Offsets Regulation. B.C. Reg. 393/2008. Deposited December 9, 2008. Government of British Columbia. Queen's Printer, Victoria, BC. 14 pp. Available from http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/cas/mitigation/ggrta/pdf/offsets-reg.pdf [accessed July 6 2010].

- Government of British Columbia. 2011. A Smoke Management Framework for British Columbia: A Cross-government Approach to Reduce Human Exposure to Smoke from Biomass Burning. Ministry of Environment Air Protection Section, in cooperation with the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations, the Ministry of Agriculture, and the Ministry of Energy and Mines. Victoria, BC. 35 pp. Available from http://www.bcairquality.ca/reports/smoke-management-framework.html [accessed Aug 1 2011].
- Government of Canada. 2009. Climate Change Accountability Act (Bill C-311). Government of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario. Available from http://www.parl.gc.ca/HousePublications/Publication.aspx?Docid=3662654 &File=9 [accessed July 6 2010].
- Green, R., and Klinka, K. 1994. A Field Guide for Site Identification and Interpretation for the Vancouver Forest Region. Land Management Handbook Number 28.
- Grumbine, R.E. 1994. What is ecosystem management? Conservation Biology 8:27-38.
- Gustavsson, L., Pingoud, K., and Sathre, R. 2006. Carbon dioxide balance of wood substitution: Comparing concrete- and wood-framed buildings. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11:667-691.
- Gustavsson, L., and Sathre, R. 2006. Variability in energy and carbon dioxide balances of wood and concrete building materials. Building and Environment 41:940-951.
- Hagan, J.M., and Grove, S.L. 1999. Coarse Woody Debris. Journal of Forestry 97(1):1-6.

- Hardy, C.C., Ottmar, R.D., Peterson, J.L., Core, J.E., and Seamon, P. 2001 Smoke Management Guide for Prescribed and Wildland Fire. Edited by National Wildfire Coordinating Group, National Interagency Fire Center, Boise, Idaho. 226 pp.
- Harmon, M.E., Ferrell, W.K., and Franklin, J.F. 1990. Effects on Carbon Storage of Conversion of Old-Growth Forests to Young Forests. Science 247(4943):699-702.
- Harmon, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Swanson, F.J., Sollins, P., Gregory, S.V., Lattin, J.D., Anderson, N.H., Cline, S.P., Aumen, N.G., Sedell, J.R., Lienkaemper, G.W., Cromack, K., Jr., and Cummins, K.W. 1986. Ecology of coarse woody debris in temperate ecosystems. Advances in Ecological Research 15:133-302.
- Harmon, M.E., Garman, S.L., and Ferrell, W.K. 1996a. Modeling historical patterns of tree utilization in the Pacific Northwest: Carbon sequestration implications. Ecological Applications 6(2):641-652.
- Harmon, M.E., Harmon, J.M., Ferrell, W.K., and Brooks, D. 1996b. Modeling carbon stores in Oregon and Washington forest products: 1900-1992. Climatic Change 33(4):521-550.
- Harmon, M.E., and Marks, B. 2002. Effects of silvicultural practices on carbon stores in Douglas-fir-western hemlock forests in the Pacific Northwest, USA: results from a simulation model. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32(5):863-877.
- Herzog, H., Caldeira, K., and Reilly, J. 2003. An Issue of Permanence: Assessing the Effectiveness of Temporary Carbon Storage. Climatic Change 59:293-310.
- Holzmueller, E.J., Gibson, D.J., and Suchecki, P.E. 2009. Using Prescribed Fire to Protect Flowering Dogwood from Dogwood Anthracnose (Illinois). Ecological Restoration 27(4):392-394.
- Hoover, C.M., Birdsey, R.A., Heath, L.S., and Stout, S.L. 2000. How to estimate carbon sequestration on small forest tracts. Journal of Forestry 98:13-19.
- Hurteau, M., and North, M. 2009. Fuel treatment effects on tree-based forest carbon storage and emissions under modeled wildfire scenarios. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7(8):409-414.
- Hurteau, M.D., Koch, G.W., and Hungate, B.A. 2008. Carbon protection and fire risk reduction: toward a full accounting of forest carbon offsets. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6(9):493-498.
- IEA Bioenergy. 1998. The Role of Bioenergy in Greenhouse Gas Mitigation. IEA Bioenergy Task 25, Austria. Available from http://www.ieabioenergytask38.org/publications/positionpaper_a4.pdf [accessed June 4 2008].

- IEA Bioenergy. 2005. Answers to ten frequently asked questions about bioenergy, carbon sinks and their role in global climate change. IEA Bioenergy Task 38, Austria. Available from http://www.ieabioenergy.com/media/13_task38faq.pdf [accessed June 4 2008].
- IPCC. 2003. Chapter 3: LUCF Sector Good Practice Guidance. In Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-use Change and Forestry. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama, Kanagawa, Japan.
- IPCC. 2007. Summary for Policymakers. In Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Edited by S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Kasischke, E.S., and Bruhwiler, L.P. 2002. Emissions of carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, and methane from boreal forest fires in 1998. Journal of Geophysical Research - Atmospheres 107(D1):8146.
- King, G.A. 1993. Conceptual approaches for incorporating climatic change into the development of forest management options for sequestering carbon. Climate Research 3:61-78.
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 2003. Can Trees Buy Time? An Assessment of the Role of Vegetation Sinks as Part of the Global Carbon Cycle. Climatic Change 58:47-71.
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 2006. Temporary Carbon Sequestration Cannot Prevent Climate Change. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11:1151-1164.
- Kranabetter, J.M., and Macadam, A.M. 1998. Ten-year Results from Operational Broadcast Burning Trials in Northwestern British Columbia. BC Ministry of Forests Research Branch, Victoria, BC. 22 pp.
- Kull, S.J., Kurz, W.A., Rampley, G.J., Banfield, G.E., Schivatcheva, R.K., and Apps, M.J. 2007. Operational-Scale Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3) Version 1.0: User's Guide.
- Kurz, W.A. 2007. The potential role of forests in aiding global attempt to reduce atmospheric CO₂ concentrations. In Challenges and Opportunities of Forest Research in the Policy-making Process: A symposium organized jointly by the International Union of Forest Research organizations and the Chinese Academy of Forestry, May 29th, 2007. Edited by J. L. Innes, Beijing, P. R. China.

- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M., Banfield, E., and Stinson, G. 2002. Forest carbon accounting at the operational scale. The Forestry Chronicle 78(5):672-679.
- Kurz, W.A., and Apps, M.J. 1999. A 70-year retrospective analysis of carbon fluxes in the Canadian forest sector. Ecological Applications 9(2):526-547.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Beukema, S.J., and Lekstrum, T. 1995. 20th-Century Carbon Budget of Canadian Forests. Tellus B 47(1-2):170-177.
- Kurz, W.A., Apps, M.J., Webb, T.M., and McNamee, P.J. 1992. In the Carbon Budget of the Canadian Forest Sector: Phase I. Information Report NOR-X-326E.
- Kurz, W.A., Beukema, S.J., and Apps, M.J. 1998. Carbon budget implications of the transition from natural to managed disturbance regimes in forest landscapes. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 2:405-421.
- Kurz, W.A., Dymond, C.C., Stinson, G., Rampley, G.J., Neilson, E.T., Carroll,
 A.L., Ebata, T., and Safranyik, L. 2008a. Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. Nature 452(7190):987-990.
- Kurz, W.A., Dymond, C.C., White, T.M., Stinson, G., Shaw, C.H., Rampley, G.J., Smyth, C., Simpson, B.N., Neilson, E.T., Trofymow, J.A., Metsaranta, J., and Apps, M.J. 2009. CBM-CFS3: A model of carbon-dynamics in forestry and land-use change implementing IPCC standards. Ecological Modelling 220:480-504.
- Kurz, W.A., Stinson, G., Rampley, G.J., Dymond, C.C., and Neilson, E.T. 2008b. Risk of natural disturbances makes future contribution of Canada's forests to the global carbon cycle highly uncertain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105(5):1551-1555.
- Laiho, R., and Prescott, C.E. 2004. Decay and nutrient dynamics of coarse woody debris in northern coniferous forests: a synthesis Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:763-777.
- Lemprière, T.C., Bernier, P.Y., Carroll, A.L., Flannigan, M.D., Gilsenan, R.P., McKenney, D.W., Hogg, E.H., Pedlar, J.H., and Blain, D. 2008. The importance of forest sector adaptation to climate change. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre. 78 pp. Available from http://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/downloadpdf/29154 [accessed May 15 2009].
- Levine, J.S. 1991. Global Biomass Burning: Atmospheric, Climatic, and Biospheric Implications. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

- Little, D.P., Schwarzbach, A.E., Adams, R.P., and Hsieh, C.-F. 2004. The circumscription and phylogenetic relationships of *Callitropsis* and the newly described genus *Xanthocyparis* (Cupressaceae). American Journal of Botany 91(11):1872–1881.
- Luke, A.B., Scarlett, D.J., and Archibald, D.J. 1993. Roadside Slash Pile Burning in Northeastern Ontario. OMNR, Northeast Science & Technology.TN002. 8 pp.
- Marcot, B.G. 2002. An ecological functional basis for managing decaying wood for wildlife. pp. 895-910 In: Proceedings of the symposium on the ecology and management of dead wood in western forests, November 2-4, 1999, Reno, NV. Technical coordinators: Laudenslayer, W.F., Jr., Valentine, B., Weatherspoon, C.P., and Lisle, T.E. Pacific Southwest Research Station, Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Albany, CA. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-181.
- Marland, G., Fruit, K., and Sedjo, R. 2001. Accounting for sequestered carbon: the question of permanence. Environmental Science and Policy 4:259-268.
- Mathews, J. 2007. Seven steps to curb global warming. Energy Policy 35(8):4247-4259.
- McMahon, C.K. 1999. Forest fires and smoke impacts on air quality and human health in the USA. In Proceedings, TAPPI International Environmental Conference, 1999 April 18-21, Nashville, TN.
- Meidinger, D.V. and J. Pojar. 1991. Ecosystems of British Columbia. Research Branch, BC Ministry of Forests. 330 pp. http://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/Srs/Srs06.htm
- Meinshausen, M., Meinshausen, N., Hare, W., Raper, S.C.B., Frieler, K., Knutti, R., Frame, D.J., and Allen, M.R. 2009. Greenhouse-gas emission targets for limiting global warming to 2°C. Nature 458(30):1158-1163.
- Mignone, B.K., Socolow, R.H., Sarmiento, J.L., and Oppenheimer, M. 2008. Atmospheric stabilization and the timing of carbon mitigation. Climatic Change 88(3-4):251-265.
- Mitchell, S.R., Harmon, M.E., and O'Connell, K.E.B. 2009. Forest fuel reduction alters fire severity and long-term carbon storage in three Pacific Northwest ecosystems. Ecological Applications 19(3):643-655.
- Murray, B.C., Prisley, S.P., Birdsey, R.A., and Sampson, R.N. 2000. Carbon sinks in the Kyoto Protocol - Potential relevance for US forests. Journal of Forestry 98(9):6-11.

- Nabuurs, G.J., Masera, O., Andrasko, K., Benitez-Ponce, P., Boer, R., Dutschke, M., Elsiddig, E., Ford-Robertson, J., Frumhoff, P., Karjalainen, T., Krankina, O.N., Kurz, W.A., Matsumoto, M., Oyhantcabai, W., Ravindranath, N.H., Sanz Sanchez, M.J., and Zhang, X. 2007. Forestry. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Edited by B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, R. Dave, and L. A. Meyer. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Nash, R. (ed). 1990. American environmentalism: Readings in conservation history. 3rd ed. McGraw Hill Publishing Company.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2009. The Operational-Scale Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector. Available from http://carbon.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/CBM-CFS3_e.html [accessed June 30 2010].
- O'Neill, B.C., Oppenheimer, M., and Petsonk, A. 2006. Interim targets and the climate treaty regime. Climate Policy 5(6):639-645.
- O'Neill, B.C., Riahi, K., and Keppo, I. 2010. Mitigation implications of midcentury targets that preserve long-term climate policy options. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107(3):1011-1016.
- Pacala, S., and Socolow, R. 2004. Stabilization wedges: Solving the climate problem for the next 50 years with current technologies. Science 305(5686):968-972.
- Petersen, A.K., and Solberg, B. 2005. Environmental and economic impacts of substitution between wood products and alternative materials: A review of micro-level analyses from Norway and Sweden. Forest Policy and Economics 7:249-259.
- Radke, L.F., Ward, D.E. and Riggan, P.J. 2001. A prescription for controlling the air pollution resulting from the use of prescribed biomass fire: clouds. International Journal of Wildland Fire 10:103–111.
- Sambo, S.M. 2002. Fuel consumption for ground-based harvesting systems in Western Canada. Advantage 3(29):1-12.
- Sandberg, David V.; Ottmar, Roger D.; Peterson, Janice L.; Core, John. 2002.
 Wildland fire on ecosystems: effects of fire on air. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-42-vol. 5. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 79 pp.
- Schnepf, C. 2006. Forest Fire Risk Reduction Alternatives for Slash. Woodland NOTES 18(1). University of Idaho Extension Forestry.

- Simorangkir, D. 2007. Fire use: Is it really the cheaper land preparation method for large-scale plantations? Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 12:147-164.
- Snetsinger, J. 2005. Strathcona Timber Supply Area: Rationale for Allowable Annual Cut (AAC) Determination. BC Ministry of Forests, Victoria, BC.
- Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Alley, R.B., Berntsen, T., Bindoff, N.L., Chen, Z., Chidthaisong, A., Gregory, J.M., Hegerl, G.C., Heimann, M., Hewitson, B., Hoskins, B.J., Joos, F., Jouzel, J., Kattsov, V., Lohmann, U., Matsuno, T., Molina, M., Nicholls, N., Overpeck, J., Raga, G., Ramaswamy, V., Ren, J., Rusticucci, M., Somerville, R., Stocker, T.F., Whetton, P., Wood, R.A., and Wratt, D. 2007. Technical Summary. In Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Edited by S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Stanley, A.G., Dunwiddie, P.W., and Kaye, T.N. 2011. Restoring Invaded Pacific Northwest Prairies: Management Recommendations from a Region-Wide Experiment. Northwest Science 85(2):233-246.
- Stern, N.H. 2006. The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stinson, G., and Freedman, B. 2001. Potential for Carbon Sequestration in Canadian Forests and Agroecosystems. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 6:1-23.
- Sullivan, T.P., Sullivan, D.S., Lindgren, P.M.F., Ransome, D.B., Bull, J.G., and Ristea, C. 2011. Bioenergy or biodiversity? Woody debris structures and maintenance of red-backed voles on clearcuts. Biomass and Bioenergy 35(10):4390-4398.
- Switzer, J. 2011. Thinning and Prescribed Fire for Ecosystem Restoration in Rocky Mountain Forests of British Columbia: Changes in Physical, Chemical and Biological Properties of Forest Floors and Soil. MSc Thesis. University of British Columbia.
- Trofymow, J.A., Stinson, G., and Kurz, W.A. 2008. Derivation of a spatially explicit 86-year retrospective carbon budget for a landscape undergoing conversion from old-growth to managed forests on Vancouver Island, B.C. Forest Ecology and Management 256:1677-1691.
- Turner, D.P., Koerper, G.J., Harmon, M.E., and Lee, J.J. 1995. Carbon Sequestration by Forests of the United-States - Current Status and Projections to the Year 2040. Tellus B 47(1-2):232-239.

- Ucitel, D., Christian, D.P., and Graham, J.M. 2003. Vole Use of Coarse Woody Debris and Implications for Habitat and Fuel Management. Journal of Wildlife Management 67(1):65-72.
- US EPA, (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 1996. Chapter 13: Miscellaneous Sources: Wildfires and Prescribed Burning. In Compilation of Air Pollutant Emissions Factors: Volume I: Stationary Point and Area Sources (Fifth Edition). Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, Office of Air and Radiation, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC. Available from http://www.epa.gov/ttn/chief/ap42/ch13/final/c13s01.pdf [July 12 2010].
- Vaillant, N.M., Fites-Kaufman, J.A., and Stephens, S.L. 2009. Effectiveness of prescribed fire as a fuel treatment in Californian coniferous forests. International Journal of Wildland Fire 18:165-175.
- van Kooten, G.C., Binkley, C.S., and Delcourt, G. 1995. Effect of Carbon Taxes and Subsidies on Optimal Forest Rotation Age and Supply of Carbon Services. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 77(2):365-374.
- Vaughan, N.E., Lenton, T.M., and Shepherd, J.G. 2009. Climate change mitigation: trade-offs between delay and strength of action required. Climatic Change 96(1-2):29-43.
- Wang, S. 2004. One hundred faces of sustainable forest management. Forest Policy and Economics 6:205-213.
- Wayburn, L.A., Franklin, J.F., Gordon, J.C., Binkley, C.S., Mladenoff, D.J., and Christensen, N.L., Jr. 2007. Forest Carbon in the United States: Opportunities & Options for Private Lands. Pacific Forest Trust Inc.
- Weaver, A.J., Zickfeld, K., Montenegro, A., and Eby, M. 2007. Long Term Climate Implications of 2050 Emission Reduction Targets. Geophysical Research Letters 34(L19703): doi:10.1029/2007GL031018.
- Weber, M.G., and Taylor, S.W. 1992. The use of prescribed fire in the management of Canada's forested lands. The Forestry Chronicle 68(3):324-334.
- Wiedinmyer, C., and Hurteau, M.D. 2010. Prescribed Fire As a Means of Reducing Forest Carbon Emissions in the Western United States. Environmental Science & Technology 44(6):1926-1932.
- Williamson, T.B., Colombo, S.J., Duinker, P.N., Gray, P.A., Hennessey, R.J., Houle, D., Johnston, M.H., Ogden, A.E., and Spittlehouse, D.L. 2009. Climate change and Canada's forests: from impacts to adaptation. Sustainable Forest Management Network and Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre. 106 pp. Available from http://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/download-pdf/29616 [accessed December 7 2009].

- Wong, C., H. Sandmann, and B. Dorner. 2003. Historical variability of natural disturbances in British Columbia: A literature review. FORREX–Forest Research Extension Partnership, Kamloops, B.C. FORREX Series 12. Available from http://www.forrex.org/publications/forrexseries/fs12.pdf [accessed July 7 2010]
- Yaffee, S.L. 1998. Three faces of ecosystem management. Conservation Biology 13:713-725.
- Zickfeld, K.,Ebya, M., Matthews, H.D., and Weaver, A.J. 2009. Setting cumulative emissions targets to reduce the risk of dangerous climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106(38):16129–16134.

FIGURES



Figure 1. The Strathcona Timber Supply Area (TSA) on Vancouver Island, British Columbia. The map illustrates the location and extent of the three timber supply blocks – Kyuquot, Sayward, and Loughborough. The inset map shows the location of the Strathcona TSA relative to rest of coastal British Columbia.



Figure 2. Conceptual illustration of the greenhouse gas (GHG) implications of either burning or not burning slash. The grey box on the left-hand side represents the amount of carbon stored in the debris that is actually released to the atmosphere during slash burning (i.e. it does not reflect the carbon of the debris in the pile that is not actually combusted). Burning releases this carbon immediately in the form of several GHGs (CO₂, CO, CH₄). In addition to the carbon-based GHGs, burning debris also emits N₂O to the atmosphere. From the right-hand side, if the same debris is not burned then decomposition releases this carbon slowly over time, but only in the form of CO₂. In any particular year, the total GHG impact of burning is the difference between the total emissions (in CO₂-equivalents) from burning and those that would result from decomposition even if burning had not occurred. The portion of this difference that simply represents the fact that the decomposing debris has not yet released all of the carbon that it eventually will is temporary. The portion of this difference that represents the discrepancy between releasing all of that carbon as CO₂ and releasing it as CO₂ plus stronger GHGs is permanent.



Figure 3. Total ecosystem carbon flux for the Strathcona TSA. This graph illustrates an approximate carbon balance of the Strathcona TSA from 2008 to 2050, distinguishing the contributions of the THLB and non-THLB portions of the landscape. This estimate is based on a simplified model of the landscape. Harvesting occurs according to a schedule based on the TSR "base case"; however, harvested wood products are assumed to be immediate emissions to the atmosphere (zero net addition to long-term storage) and natural disturbances are not included.



Figure 4. The common harvest schedule. A: The AAC forecast used as the basis for the common harvest schedule. The blue diamonds are the values extracted from the TSR "base case". The solid red line is an adjustment of those values to reflect the actual current AAC. The green triangles represent the final harvest levels used in the present simulations. B: Annual area harvested (2008-2050). The annual old-growth, second-growth and total area harvested within the Strathcona TSA over the study period. The abrupt increase in 2050 is an anomaly that is not representative of the level of harvest post-2050 (not shown), which is within a similar range as the 2040s. C: The annual amount of carbon harvested over the study period. This represents carbon transferred from the merchantable biomass pool to the forest products pool as the result of harvesting operations in each year.



Figure 5. Area harvested and subsequently burned (2008-2050). The graph shows the annual area subject to the "clearcut with slash pile burning" treatment over the study period for each of the four burning scenarios. The remaining area harvested each year is subject to the "clearcut" treatment with no burning of debris. The particularly high values in 2050 are an anomaly within the longer record (not shown) and do not represent the beginning of a sharp upward trend.



Figure 6. The area of old-growth and second-growth forest subject to the "clearcut with slash pile burning" treatment over the study period for the low burning scenario. The remaining area harvested each year is subject to the "clearcut" treatment with no burning of debris. The particularly high values in 2050 are an anomaly within the longer record (not shown) and do not represent the beginning of a sharp upward trend.



Figure 7. The annual GHG impact of burning debris piles, relative to the zero burning baseline, for each burning scenario. Negative flux values represent an emission of GHGs from the ecosystem to the atmosphere. A: The permanent component of the annual GHG impact. B: The temporary component of the annual GHG impact. C: The total annual GHG impact, which is the sum of the permanent and temporary components.



Figure 8. The cumulative GHG impact of burning debris piles, relative to the zero burning baseline, for each burning scenario. Negative flux values represent an emission of GHGs from the ecosystem to the atmosphere. A: The permanent component of the cumulative GHG impact. B: The temporary component of the cumulative GHG impact. C: The total cumulative GHG impact, which is the sum of the permanent and temporary components.



Figure 9. The GHG impacts of burning over the long-run (2050-2250). This graph shows the temporary component of the cumulative GHG impact of burning debris piles during the study period (2008-2050) over the subsequent 200 years. This figure is identical to **Figure 8B** up to 2050. During the initial period of management, the same level harvesting and slash pile burning is applied but management actions stopped after 2050 to observe how the temporary GHG impacts accumulated by 2050 change over a longer time frame. The values displayed for the percentage of the temporary gain remaining apply to all scenarios – the absolute measure of the cumulative temporary impact differs among scenarios, but the proportional decay of that impact follows the same pattern. Negative flux values represent an emission of GHGs from the ecosystem to the atmosphere.



Figure 10. Accumulation and subsequent release of carbon in the DOM pools of the zero burning baseline, relative to the high burning scenario, during the study period (2008-2050) and over the following 200 years. For the zero burning baseline, this carbon storage is incremental to the high burning scenario (against which it is being compared) because the carbon would have otherwise been released immediately through burning. This figure represents a disaggregation of the high burning scenario as displayed in Figure 9; however, for a more intuitive interpretation, this figure rather than as a loss relative to the burning scenario.



Figure 11. A diagram of the decomposition of the forest floor and soil as represented in CBM-CFS3. This diagram shows that a portion of all the carbon in DOM pools will eventually be transferred into the slow DOM pools, which play a critical role in the longevity of temporary carbon storage in the zero burning baseline that is incremental to alternate burning scenarios (e.g. Figure 10).



Figure 12. The effect of potential regeneration delays on the cumulative temporary GHG impacts of the moderate burning scenario, relative to zero burning. Regeneration delays do not affect the permanent component of the overall GHG impact because they have no impact on the release of non-CO2 GHGs from combustion. Each delay scenario is specified by two values. First, the size of the effect is expressed in terms of the percentage of the stand area subject to a delay in regeneration. Second, the duration of the effect is expressed in terms of the number of years before regeneration will occur on that particular portion of the stand. Negative flux values represent an emission of GHGs from the ecosystem to the atmosphere.



Figure 13. The cumulative GHG impact in 2050 of burning debris piles during 2008-2050 for each burning scenario, relative to the zero burning baseline. Subcomponents of the total impact are differentiated by their longevity past 2050. In particular, the temporary component of the cumulative GHG impact has been subdivided into different "types" of temporary impacts based on the duration of those impacts: decadal temporary impacts are those that will expire prior to 2150; centennial temporary impacts are those that will persist beyond 2150 but will expire prior to 2250, 200 years after the end of the period in which the management actions were applied. Negative flux values represent an emission of GHGs from the ecosystem to the atmosphere.



Figure 14. Cumulative net GHG impact in 2050 by duration of impact. This chart shows the proportional contribution of the permanent impact and the three "types" of temporary impacts to the cumulative GHG impact of burning debris piles in 2050. If the temporary impacts that will persist greater than 100 years after the management period are considered to be effectively permanent (the blue, grouped segments), then this would double the "permanent" GHG impacts of burning debris piles, compared to excluding temporary impacts entirely. Using a 100-year threshold is arbitrary, but illustrates the effect of considering temporary impacts of a particular minimum duration as equivalent to permanent impacts.

TABLES

Table 1. Disturbance matrix for used to represent clearcut harvesting with the burning of debrispiles. Each row of the matrix describes the proportional transfer of the carbon from aparticular source pool (listed in the first column) to one or more destination pools(listed in the first row). This matrix replicates the application of the default "clearcut(no salvage)" disturbance matrix followed immediately by the application of thedefault "clearcut with slash burn" disturbance matrix, as described in the text.

	AGVF	BGVF	AGF	BGF	Μ	AGS	BGS	BC	Р	CO2	CH4	CO	prod
SWM					0.133					0.015	0.0002	0.0015	0.85
SWF	0.779									0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
SWO			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
SWSM			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
SWCR			0.39	0.5						0.099	0.0011	0.0099	
SWFR	0.3895	0.5								0.099	0.0011	0.0099	
HM					0.133					0.015	0.0002	0.0015	0.85
HF	0.779									0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
НО			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
HSM			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
HCR			0.39	0.5						0.099	0.0011	0.0099	
HFR	0.3895	0.5								0.099	0.0011	0.0099	
AGVF	0.779									0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
BGVF		1											
AGF			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
BGF				1									
М					0.889					0.1	0.0011	0.0100	
AGS						1							
BGS							1						
SWSS					0.889					0.1	0.0011	0.0100	
SWBS			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
HW SS					0.889					0.1	0.0011	0.0100	
HWBS			0.779							0.199	0.0022	0.0199	
BC								1					
Р									1				

SW	softwood
HM	hardwood
Μ	merchantable
F	foliage
0	others
SM	sub-merchantable
CR	coarse roots
FR	fine roots

- AGVFabove ground very fast soil CBGVFbelow ground very fast soil CAGFabove ground fast soil CBGFbelow ground fast soil CMmedium soil CAGSabove ground slow soil CBGSbelow ground slow soil C
- SS stem snag BS branch snag BC Black C P Peat prod Forest products

Table 2. The percentage of the total harvested area subject to "clearcut with slash pile burning" for each burning scenario, stratified by old-/second-growth. The remaining harvested area within each scenario is harvested by clearcut as well, but with no subsequent application of any burning.

	Baseline simulation	Burning scenarios					
Stratum	Zero burning	Low burning	Moderate burning	High burning	Very high burning		
Second-growth	0%	6%	9%	12%	18%		
Old-growth	0%	3%	4.5%	6%	9%		

 Table 3. Global warming potential values (GWP) for a 100-year time horizon, as used by the IPCC (Solomon et al., 2007).

Greenhouse Gas	100-year GWP value
Carbon dioxide (CO ₂)	1
Methane (CH ₄)	25
Nitrous oxide (N ₂ O)	298

Table 4. The cumulative GHG impact in 2050 of slash burning since 2008, relative to the zeroburning baseline, with the contribution of the permanent and temporary componentsto the total net impact.

	Cumulative GHG Impact in 2050 (tons CO ₂ -e)						
Scenario	Total Impact	Permanent Component	Temporary Component				
Low burning	248,211	44,676	203,536				
Moderate burning	372,327	67,018	305,309				
High burning	496,421	89,351	407,070				
Very high burning	744,629	134,027	610,602				

Table 5. The cumulative GHG impacts in 2050 that will persist at least 100 years (permanent,
multi-centennial temporary and centennial temporary components) of two burning
scenarios in terms of equivalent regional GHG impacts.

Impact equivalent to cumulative GHG impact in 2050							
Burning Scenario	Forestry Operations in Strathcona TSA	Small Passenger Cars	Large Passenger Cars	Light Trucks, Vans, SUVs	Residential Energy Use		
	(% of total GHG impact)	(# vehicles on 1	(% of total GHG impact)				
Low	12.0%	636	396	301	1.9%		
High	24.0%	1271	793	602	3.8%		